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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERWE

The previous year represents the most challenging year for the
Group so far. From the Sino-US trade war at the beginning of last
year to the social movements in the mid-year, followed by the
outbreak of COVID-19 in this year, many industries have suffered
a heavy blow as a result. The Group is no exception. However,
despite such serious challenges, | am extremely grateful for the
ongoing and unwavering support from everyone towards the
Group.

Under such difficult operating environment, not only did the
Group refuse to take steps in reduction of production volumes,
instead we proactively catered to public demand for collections,
acquired more copyrights with high popularity and minimized
our cost and selling prices to enhance market recognition of the
Group’s brand and our market share. In the coming year, we
will continue our commitment to high-end design and supreme
quality in return for the unlimited support given to our Group.

In order to increase the revenue of the Group, since last year,
we have been actively seeking for more appropriate suppliers
and identifying more production plants. With regards to sales
activities, in addition to the increased number of sales channels,
our own B2C (Business to Consumer) direct sales also witnessed
an encouraging growth. Looking forward, it is necessary for
the Group to recruit more suitable talents, with the expectation
to attract more people who are interested in toys to join our
Company, and scale new heights for the Group hand by hand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SEE R E IS &

Business Review

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under
the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
engaged in design, marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys
and related products.

Sales of original design manufacturer (“ODM?”)
toys

The sales of ODM toys maintained a healthy growth in Japan,
which was instrumental to the sales business of the Group.
The Group’s two major customers, namely Sentinel Japan and
Wing Co., Ltd., have had work with us for over 9 and 13 years
respectively, representing the primary revenue source of the sales
of ODM toys. During the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”),
revenue from sales of ODM toys increased by approximately
32.7% to approximately HK$136,829,000 (2019: approximately
HK$103,088,000). In light of increased labour costs and costs of
raw materials, our suppliers passed some of the increased costs
to the Group, which caused a decrease of gross profit margin in
the sales of ODM toys of approximately 0.53% during the year,
contributing to the main reason for the decrease of the overall
gross profit margin for the Year.

Distribution of imported toys and related products
The outbreak of 2019 Novel Coronavirus (“COVID-19”) since
January 2020 resulted in a drop in the demand of the Group’s
products during the final quarter. On the other hand, there
were two new high-end robot figures released and delivered in
the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Prior Year”). As a result,
the revenue from distribution of imported toys and related
products decreased significantly by approximately 32.5% to
HK$36,669,000 (2019: approximately HK$54,319,000) during
the Year.

Sales of own licensed toys and related products
The Group applied the “SENTINEL/ F{E %R, “TOPI” and “FLAME
TOYS” brands in developing our own licensed toys and related
products over the years. During the Year, the Group introduced
a variety of figures of robot-themed characters with good sales
performance, resulting in an increase in revenue from sales
of own licensed toys and related products during the Year by
approximately 32.9% to HK$33,467,000 (2019: approximately
HK$25,176,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Financial Analysis

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes possession
of and accepts the products. Revenue is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Revenue increased by approximately 13.4% to approximately
HK$206,965,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$182,583,000 for the Prior Year. The increase in revenue
was mainly due to the increase in revenue from (i) sales of own
licensed toys and related products; and (i) sales of ODM toys to
license holders.

Cost of sales

Our Group’s cost of sales, incurred from the ODM toys,
distribution of imported toys and related products and own
licensed toys and comprising of related products (i) production
costs; (i) license feg; (iii) depreciation of mould and (iv) others.

Cost of sales increased by approximately 19.9% to
approximately HK$164,783,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$137,423,000 for the Prior Year, including the write down of
inventory in aggregate of approximately HK$200,000.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by approximately 6.6% to approximately
HK$42,182,000 for the Year from approximately HK$45,160,000
for the Prior Year. The gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 20.4% for the Year from approximately 24.7% for
the Prior Year. The decrease in gross profit margin is mainly due
to the increase of labour and raw materials costs, which led to
the increase of the cost of ODM toys and own licensed toys and
related products.

Other net income

Other net income increased by approximately 90.8% to
approximately HK$6,254,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$3,278,000 for the Prior Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses comprises (i) advertising; (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary of staff; (iii)
freight, postage and delivery; (iv) commission expense for
our consignment sales; and (v) other selling and distribution
expenses. Selling expenses increased by approximately
29.7% from approximately HK$5,306,000 for the Prior Year to
approximately HK$6,882,000 for the Year, mainly due to (i) an
increase in the number of sales staff; and (i) increased postage
and delivery fee.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consists of (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary and staff
benefit payable to our administrative department including
our Directors;(ii) operating lease charges for land and building;
(iii) travelling and entertainment expenses; (iv) audit fee; (v)
depreciation expenses;(vi) legal and professional fee; (vii)
insurance expenses mainly in relation to product liability
insurance; and (viii) other administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 45.1% from
approximately HK$19,974,000 for the Prior Year to approximately
HK$28,978,000 for the Year. Such increase was mainly due to
(i) bad debts of trade receivables; (i) increase in staff costs due
to increase in salary of staff; and (iii) the additional expenses in
respect of the new retail shops in Hong Kong.

Finance costs

The finance costs arose from our bank loans. Finance
costs increased by approximately 102.3% to approximately
HK$348,000 for the year from approximately HK$172,000 for
the Prior Year. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
interest on lease liabilities.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses were decreased by approximately 28.0%
to approximately HK$3,874,000 for the Year, as compared to
approximately HK$5,378,000 for the Prior Year.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

Except for those included in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated
18 May 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group had no definite future
plans for material investments and capital assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Significant investments held

It has been the Group’s strategy to explore new potential projects
in order to diversify its business as well as broaden income
source of the Group and eventually to maximise the return to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The board
of Directors (the “Board”) sees an increasing demand and huge
business opportunities for medical face masks and protective
products in the PRC and Hong Kong as a result of the increasing
awareness of health protection due to the recent global wide
spread of new COVID-19 outbreak.

On 30 March 2020, one of the direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group, Amuse Luck Limited (“Amuse Luck”) has entered into
the joint venture agreement with Grand View Protective Products
Limited (“Grand View”) (the “Joint Venture Agreement”) pursuant
to which Amuse Luck and Grand View agreed to jointly establish
a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) in Hong Kong owned as
to 30% by Amuse Luck and 70% by Grand View (the “Joint
Venture”), which will principally engage in manufacturing and sale
of protective products (including medical face masks, infrared
thermometer, disinfectant spray, protective clothing, etc.) in Hong
Kong and PRC markets.

In accordance with the Joint Venture Agreement, Amuse Luck
and Grand View will advance a further investment in aggregate
amount of HK$10 million to the Joint Venture for setting up
the medical face masks production lines in proportion to their
respective shareholdings, in which Amuse Luck will contribute
HK$3 million to the Joint Venture and Grand View will be
responsible for the costs of medical face masks production
equipment, its installation and the plant renovation which amount
to approximately HK$7 million.

The Directors are of the view that it is a good opportunity for
the Group to invest in a developing industry with potential and
the Joint Venture will bring about opportunities for business
cooperation with the Group which may diversify the Group’s
portfolio of businesses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings divided by total equity at the respective reporting
date. As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 0.02 times, while it was 0.04 times as at 31
March 2019. The decrease in gearing ratio was mainly due to
the increase of reserve during the year ended 31 March 2020.
The Group’s financial position is sound and strong. With available
bank balances and cash, the Group has sufficient liquidity to
satisfy its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Certain trade receivables, bank balances and trade payables
are denominated in foreign currency of the respective group
entities which are exposed to foreign currency risk. Although
part of the Group’s revenue and cost are in U.S. Dollar (“USD”)
and Japanese Yen, the Group does not expect any significant
movement in the USD and Japanese Yen exchange rate. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Charge on the Group’s assets

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s building with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$6,422,000 were mortgaged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group (31 March 2019:
investment property and building approximately HK$16,899,000).

Information on employees

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 38 employees (31 March
2019: 44) working in Hong Kong. Employees are remunerated
according to their performance and work experience. On top
of basic salary, commission, discretionary bonus and share
option may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the
Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance. The
total staff cost (including remuneration of the Directors and
mandatory provident funds contributions) for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$13,846,000 (2019: approximately
HK$12,770,000).

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Use of Proceeds

The ordinary share(s) of the Company (the “Shares”) were
listed on GEM on 31 May 2018. The net proceeds from the
listing of the Shares on GEM (the “Listing”) (after deducting
the underwriting fees and related expenses) amounted to
approximately HK$57.9 million. Up to 31 March 2020, the actual
use of proceeds and unutilised proceeds were approximately
HK$34.2 million and HK$23.7 million, respectively. The proceeds
from the Listing were applied as follows:
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Further enhancing our information E— A HEEARERS
technology system and performing METREEE
warehouse renovation 2,100 1,200 900
Total 4Et 57,900 34,232 23,668

The business objectives, future plans and planned use of
proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation and assumption of future market conditions made
by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus while the
proceeds were applied based on the actual development of the
Group’s business and the industry.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Event After the Reporting Period

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“the
COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and
control measures have been and continued to be implemented
over the world, which has affected the business and economic
activities of the Group to certain extent. Pending on the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak subsequent to the
date of these financial statements, further changes in economic
conditions for the Group arising thereof may have impact on
the financial results of the Group. The overall financial effect of
the above cannot be reliably estimated as of the date of these
consolidated financial statements. The Group will pay close
attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak and
continue to evaluate its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASRHN

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Z {#38), aged 40, is a founder of our
Group. He is the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”),
a controlling Shareholder (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
and an executive Director. He is currently responsible for overall
business development as well as financial and strategic planning
of our Group. Mr. Li is also a director of each of the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Li has over 14 years of experience
in the ACG toy industry in Hong Kong. Prior to establishing our
Group, Mr. Li worked at L. Y. Creative Co., Limited, which was a
company engaged in toy industry, from November 2002 to April
2004, with his last position as project engineer. Subsequently,
from May 2004 to July 2004, he worked as a project engineer
at Hutchison Harbour Ring Co., Limited, which was a company
engaged in toy industry. In September 2004, he, among others,
established Bestone Creative for designing and manufacturing
toys on ODM basis. In December 2008, Mr. Li, among others,
established Sentinel Hong Kong with the aim to developing
and distributing its own licensed toys of ACG characters. Mr.
Li obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Mechanical
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 2001.

Mr. Li did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASEHN

Mr. TO Hoi Pan (%38 38), aged 46, is an executive Director
and the company secretary of our Company. He is currently
responsible for (i) the financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury and financial control and company secretarial matters;
and (i) the overall business development of our Group. Mr. To
has over 15 years of experience in the field of accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining our Group, he worked
as chief financial officer at Opes Asia Development Limited
(Stock code: 810) (currently known as China Internet Investment
Finance Holdings Limited), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. To joined our Group as a
chief financial officer in March 2016, and was appointed as our
company secretary in March 2017.

Mr. To obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the University of Wollongong in Australia
in December 1999. Mr. To is currently a certified practising
accountant of the CPA Australia and a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. To did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong (Z#£75), aged 34, is an executive Director
and our general manager. Ms. Lee joined our Group in August
2006 and was promoted to general manager in November
2011. Ms. Lee is mainly responsible for managing the general
operations of our Group.

Ms. Lee did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASEHN

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Pui Hang (R #18), aged 40, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 May 2018. He is
primarily responsible for bringing an independent judgment to
ensure the continuing effectiveness of the management of our
Company. Mr. Yu is the chairman of our remuneration committee
and a member of our audit committee and corporate governance
committee.

Mr. Yu obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from the King’s
College London of the University of London in the United
Kingdom in July 2001. Mr. Yu was admitted to practice law as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2004 and in England and Wales
in April 2005. Mr. Yu was appointed as the honorary legal advisor
to the Hong Kong Federation of Invention and Innovation in
July 2017, the honorary legal advisor to the Institute of Financial
Technologies of Asia in January 2018 and the honorary legal
advisor to The GHM-Greater Bay Area TECHFIN Association
in May 2018. Mr. Yu has also qualifies as a Certified Financial
Technologist in 2020.

Mr. Yu worked as assistant solicitor at Kennedys from July 2004
to August 2005. From November 2005 to October 2006, he
worked as an associate at a Hong Kong office of Norton Rose
(Services) Limited. He then worked as an associate at Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer from November 2006 to July 2010. Mr.
Yu then worked at ICBC International Holdings Limited from
July 2010 to December 2015 with his last position as executive
director, associate general counsel of legal department. Mr. Yu
has been one of the founding partners of the law firm, L&Y Law
Office since January 2016. He has also been the sole proprietor
of the law firm, Henry Yu & Associates since March 2018.

Mr. Yu has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Amuse Group Holding Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8545) since May 2018 and an independent non-executive
director of Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
8512) since July 2018.

BYFHTES

RWE 408 R-F—\FHA+ A%
EEABUFATES REERARRR
AR TG MR A RGBS H o &
RERFMHEEEER BREBGRLE

BRRBEEKE -

REEN_ZE-FLAREERBIAAER
HEETBERRBEBELBM - REER
ZENFENAKRBBERERN IR _-F
THFMABERREBRABEAE - R
FER-_T—LtFLARZERBTEEHAR
MRenKEBERER R_E—/\F—A
BZERTNEBBMRMBSRBEEER
TR-F-N\FREABRRZERERRAE
ENRERBENRBERZER - RELER
RIZ-_TFERBRAIMSBBILAED

RAEEB_TTEWNF+AE_ZEZTHFNA
RERINEMITEEDERZM -8 -2TH
F+—RAE=ZZTRFT+ A ' # ¥ T Norton
Rose (Services) Limited &% ¥ 5 5z 2 20 © #
HEB T AF+—AE=-FT—ZTFLA
EEEmMEEMELAT 2200 £& - REk4E
R_E—ZTFLtAE_ZT—AF+-_AET
REBER AR QB ER - BBATETRTE
B AETREAREN - ATEA TN
F-RAR—BEAEMEBAMNREMEBA
MAREBAZ - BFE-_ZT—N\F=Ai
IR 512 B 28 7% BT Henry Yu & Associates 81 %8 &
K o

REEAB T N\FHAERZERMBIRGE
BEZERAERABNBIIFNTES  (ZAF
P fn FEBE 32 PT GEM BT - B o A5 ¢ 8545) -
YE-FE-\FLtAERRZEIRIEEEH
ERARARKBYLIFATES (ZRARKRND
B R P GEM BT B 5% - 8512) ©

—E-TEsR EReEERsRA7T 15




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASEHN

Mr. TUNG Man (Z X ), aged 45, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for providing independent
judgement on our strategy, performance, resources and standard
of conduct. Mr. Tung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social
Science with Honours from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 1997. Mr. Tung has over 21 years of experience
in the banking and finance industry. From October 1997 to
August 2000, Mr. Tung worked at Dao Heng Bank Limited, with
his last position as consultant personal financial services. From
August 2000 to February 2005, Mr. Tung worked at Chekiang
First Bank Limited, and subsequently Wing Hang Bank, Limited
(after its acquisition of the former bank), with his last position as
senior officer. Mr. Tung subsequently worked at the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd from February 2005
to October 2015 at which his last position was deputy chief
relationship manager of global banking department. Mr. Tung has
worked at China Tian Yuan International Finance (Management)
Limited since October 2015, and is currently the managing
director of the capital management department.

Mr. Tung did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASEHN

Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice (B #%¥), aged 37, is an
independent non-executive Director. She is responsible for
providing independent judgement on our strategy, performance,
resources and standard of conduct. Ms. Chow obtained a degree
of Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Auckland in
New Zealand in May 2004. She subsequently obtained a degree
of Master of Commerce in Finance from The University of New
South Wales in Australia in September 2005. She has become a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2010. Ms. Chow has over 15
years of experience in the auditing and financial management
industry. Ms. Chow worked as graduate accountant in audit
division at Stirling SCI, chartered accountants, from July 2004
to May 2005. From September 2005 to December 2007, she
worked at Wong Lam Leung & Kwok C.P.A Limited, with her
last position as accountant Il. She subsequently joined Moore
Stephens Associates Limited in Hong Kong as audit assistant
in January 2008 and worked until September 2012, with her
last position as an audit supervisor. From February 2013 to July
2016, she worked as assistant finance manager at Boer Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1685), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From October
2016 to December 2016, she was employed by Sky Business
Consultants Limited as consulting manager. Ms. Chow joined
Ready Electrical Metal Work Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of REM Group (Holdings) Limited (“REM Group” (stock code:
1750), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) in January 2017, and she is currently serving
as the chief financial officer and the company secretary of REM
Group.

Ms. Chow did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

BABBRLZL 375 ABMIFERTES K
BERKE R\  ERMBTEZEEREET
HE- AT R _SENFRAEHAHE
REABERBESLEM - FEER T
TREFNLAERNT BB ARERTS
BrEy (EEems) HE-_T—ZTF—
ARKAESSGIMASZHESHE - &
TEREFT RV BERITERB AR 15FER -
AT Be 22N F+AE2-_ETHFARA
A& 5Bl Stirling SCIBZBPIEREX 4
28 B _EERAFNAZE_TZTLF+=
A ERENRRBSAMERAR A TR -
ERENBUA-RETEF - HEENZ
ZENF—AEEBMASHEBRZRER AT
BERTYE  UEBRE-_T——FNLA &
BTEBUAENEE - BT ZF_AZE_
T—ARFLA HECBEEHNERERA
A (RS 1685) 2 IR E KR - %A
AZBRMRBEIMERET BT —XRF
+RAE_ZE—XNE+ -/ BRIEREER
¥EMEAERAABERER AXETRN -
—t+F-—ANMAEERTBRERERAA]
ZATATESSREE (ER)ARAR (2
ETREE| (BMHARSE - 1750)  HAR D A B
RETERET N EMBAGT - KB ATEMT
PEEREENMBAERARWE -

AEXItRBE=ZFABEEESRBENE
SMEfESMS EM 2 EAEM ETRAR
NAETEMBESRS -

—E-TEsR EReEERaRA7 17




DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASEHN

Company Secretary

Mr. TO Hoi Pan, the chief financial officer of the Company, was
appointed as company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) in March 2017. The biographical details of Mr.
To are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report. For the year ended 31
March 2020, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

Senior Management

Ms. FU Man Yin (8 &), aged 34, has joined our Group
since July 2014 and was promoted to marketing manager in
March 2016. She is mainly responsible for overseeing the sales
and marketing activities of our Group. She obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Arts from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2009.

Prior joining our Group, Ms. Fu has accumulated experience in
marketing in Hong Kong through her employment at Konishi M&E
Limited as sales coordinator from August 2009 to April 2012 and
BB Technology Limited as assistant to director from August 2013
to December 2013.

Ms. Fu did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public

companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TERERRS

The Company is committed in maintaining high standards
of corporate governance (“CG”). The Board believes that
commitment in CG practices will definitely benefit the
Shareholders in long term. During the Year, the Company has
applied the principles and complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules in force at
that time.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding the
interests of the Shareholders and enhancing the performance
of the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve
the CG practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated
in a proper and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices,
the following actions were taken in 2020:

— Appointment of Independent Non-executive Directors
(“INEDs”) with appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience
with regulatory entitles to further broaden the collective
knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— All members of the audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) are INEDs and at least one of them
has appropriate professional accounting qualifications and
financial management experience.

—  To adopt Board diversity policy to recognise and embrace
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing, as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (“the Model
Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors. Following specific enquiry by the Company, all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions during the
Year.

The Board

The Board focuses on the overall strategic development and
is also responsible for monitoring the financial performance,
risk management and the internal controls of the Group. With
a wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs
bring independent judgement on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and committees work.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the
Report of the Directors on pages 35 to 44 of this annual report.
All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the
annual general meeting. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general
meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and
put forward to the Board by the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) as more fully explained
below under the section on Nomination Committee of this annual
report.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board has three executive
Directors and three INEDs, as shown on pages 24 to 27 of this
annual report. Biographies of the Company’s Directors are shown
on pages 13 to 18 of this annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interest of all
shareholders and subject matters are considered objectively. The
Board considers all of the INEDs to be independent. INEDs have
accounted for half of the full Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”) is Mr. LI Wai Keung.

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the Year and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied with the CG Code,
except for the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code. Mr. Li is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer and
he has been managing the Group’s business and supervising
the overall operations of the Group since 2004. The Directors
consider that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in Mr. Li is beneficial to the management and
business development of the Group and will provide a strong
and consistent leadership to the Group. The Board will continue
to review and consider splitting the roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer at a time when it is appropriate and
suitable by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.

Induction, Information and ongoing Development
All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s business, including
relevant rules and regulations. During the Year, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision A.6.5 contained in the CG Code.
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All of the Directors have also provided to the Company their
records of training attended or fulfilment of ongoing development
for the Year, the information of which has been entered in the
register of directors’ training records maintained and updated by
the Company from time to time. The following summarises the
compliance status of all Directors in respect of code provision
A.6.5 during the Year:

PMEESETHERARBRTERNEEMR
2B RIEINFEER  FHE
HERBRARA I EREREH 2EEH
B - WA AR BESER
REFZ BT TRMRSEABLIRZITMN -

In compliance

with Code
A.6.5
BRE<rFAl
Name of Directors EENA FEAB5K
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LI Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) FEBEE (TERTHAES) v
Mr. TO Hoi Pan TR v
Ms. LEE Kwai Fong ENES R v
Independent Non-executive Directors BAUFHITES
Mr. YU Pui Hang FomfELEA v
Mr. TUNG Man EXSEAE v
Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice B g L+ v
Role and Responsibilities of the Board EEgCHERER

The Board delegated appropriate aspects of its management
and administrative functions to management. It also give clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the matters that management must report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board

established three committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
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Board Process

All the Directors are regularly updated on the governance
and regulatory matters. There is an established procedure
for Directors to obtain independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company in the furtherance of their duties. The
Company has also arranged appropriate director and officer
liability insurance to cover any potential legal actions that might
be taken against its Directors.

The Board meets regularly throughout the Year to review the
overall strategies and monitor the operations as well as the
financial performance of the Group. Notice of at least 14 days
has been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and
the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board paper in respect of regular Board meetings
are despatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time
before the meeting. Directors have to declare their direct or
indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at Board meetings and abstain from
voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all Board meetings are
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior
to confirmation.
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Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free
access to board paper and related materials, enabling the Board
to make informed decision on matters place before. During the
Year and up to the date of this report, four Board meetings were
held and the attendance details are as follows:

ExgehEEZEeemzeand
REAMERE FMAEFANEREHESS
XM ERENNCEESEARNEHEER
EHFIBERE - RAFERBERFEAH -
EFQRTOAGRERLFEFBLT

Board

meeting

attended

during the

period covered

under this

annual report

EXFR

R E W E

HER

Name of Directors BEERR EEgER

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) TR E (EERITHAAE) 4/4

Mr. TO Hoi Pan g e 4/4

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong THEFLLT 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKBITES

Mr. YU Pui Hang FomELEA 4/4

Mr. TUNG Man EXhAE 4/4

Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice B g L+ 4/4

Board’s Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. Each of them has specific terms of reference to
consider matters relating to specific areas and to advise the
Board on such matters. INEDs play a significant role in these
committees to ensure that independent and objective views are
taken. The list of the Chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out on pages 25 to 27 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
C.3.3 of the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the Company’s financial
information, overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems, reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the scope of audit and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment of external
auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice (the Chairlady of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Mr. Tung Man, all being
independent non-executive Directors. No member of the Audit
Committee is a member of the former or existing independent
auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed this
annual report, including the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least four times for a financial year. The Audit
Committee held a meeting 23 June 2020 (i) review and approve
the annual financial results in respect of the year ended 31
March 2020; (i) discuss and consider the significant issues on
the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) review the appointment of external auditors
and relevant scope of works. The record of attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:
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Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HEEE®

Name of members of the Audit Committee ERZEEEHREHR HEEE
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice Bt 4/4
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomiB & 4/4
Mr. Tung Man BEXkRE 4/4
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. Yu Pui Hang (the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tung Man and Ms. Chow Chi
Ling Janice, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure
none of the Directors or any of his/her associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) determine his/her own remuneration.

The record of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out as follows:

FMEES
FHEZEERBBE=ARE BRTIES
£ (HMEESER)  EXRERALARK
THRBIFNTES) -

FHZEe@ 2T ERERNAKEMEES
EEafERENBETHNRRARBAES
KiERMEESHETMBEEA E&RGEM
EHRAEETEARTFHH -

FHEZBE RSB ZHELEHINNAT

Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HEAER

Name of members of the Remuneration Committee FHEEEREH SR HEEE
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FOMIE L& 1/1
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice AR Z+ 1/1
Mr. Tung Man BXEAE 1/1

Details of emoluments of the Directors for the year are set out
in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for the Year in
this annual report (“Consolidated Financial Statements”).

The remuneration of member of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2020
is set out below:

BREFRFAZHFMFRERAFHRAL
FEAAMBHRER ((HEMB®REK]) HES -

BE_ZT-_TF=-A=+—HILFE =&
EEEKE (TEEES) REED D 2 5
o

Number of

person(s)

Remuneration bands e E AE
HK$100,000 to HK$500,000 100,000 Tt & 500,000 78 7T 1
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Tung Man (the Chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at
least annually; identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment of
Directors. Upon the establishment of the Nomination Committee,
the Board has adopted a policy of diversity of the Board.
Accordingly, selection of Board members should be based on
a range of diversified perspective, including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The record of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out as follows:

REZEg

REZBERHE=FAME  NELE (BH
ZEREIR)  RMELERAHRLL (5
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Meeting
attended/
eligible to

attend

HEGEK

Name of members of the Nomination Committee REZEEREESR HESR
Mr. Tung Man BEXEE 1/1
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FomEL A 1/1
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice ISEsscRegun 1/1
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company conducts an annual review on whether there
is a need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
simple operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal
audit department, the Board is directly responsible for the
establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management throughout the Year
and their effectiveness. The Company has engaged an external
independent professional advisory firm (the “Independent
Advisor”) to review the effectiveness and adequacy of risk
management and internal control systems in Year 2020 so as
to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management
and internal controls system. The Independent Advisor had
reviewed and analysed all material controls of the Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
their associated risks. The relevant reports from the Independent
Advisor were presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board.

The Board considered the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the
Year. The Board also conducted a review of the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programs and budget which are considered to be adequate for
the Year.

Dividend Policy

The company formulated the Dividend Policy to set out the
principles for the Board to consider before making any dividend
distribution. In deciding whether to purpose a dividend and
in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, included but not limited to : (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (i) working capital and debt level of the
Group; (i) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development needs; (iv)
any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

After considering the plan and proposal of the management,
the Board may, at its discretion, propose or decide to distribute
interim dividends. Final dividends shall be proposed to the
Shareholders for approval.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditors of
the Company, Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited, in respect of
audit services for the Year amounted to HK$750,000.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and
Auditors

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and comply with the requirement of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the GEM Listing Rules. The auditors are
responsible for forming an independent opinion, based on the
audit, on the financial statements prepared by the Directors and
reporting the opinion solely to the Shareholders. The Independent
Auditor’s Report is set out on pages 45 to 56 of this annual
report.

Investor and Shareholder Relation

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level
of transparency in communicating with Shareholders and the
investment community at large. Briefings and meetings with
institutional investors and analysts are conducted regularly. The
Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant regulatory requirements.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate
communications of the Company are made available on the
Company’s website at http://www.amusegroupholding.com and
updated regularly on a timely basis.

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ right and
all shareholders are treated equally and fairly. The Company will
announce and publish its quarterly, interim and annual results in
a timely manner, which is well before the time limits set out in the
GEM Listing Rules. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the
general meetings on each substantially separate issue, including
the re- election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
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The Company regards the annual general meeting as an
important event in which the Chairman and all Directors will make
an effort to attend. External auditors shall also be invited to attend
the Company’s annual general meeting and are also available
to assist the Directors in addressing queries from Shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditors’ report. All Shareholders are given prior
notice on a timely basis together with a detailed agenda. The
Board, according to the GEM Listing Rules, will conduct voting
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”) by poll. The
results of the Company will be declared at the meeting, and
announced timely on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting.

Any Shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more
of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled to
request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall issue a
notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days and hold
an extraordinary general meeting within two months from the
receipt of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt of such
request the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
Shareholder(s) proposing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting in writing may himself/herself (themselves) convene an
extraordinary general meeting in the same manner.

Procedures for Shareholders to put enquires to
the Board

Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the
equity interests of the Company (e.g. by proving shareholding
documents etc.). The Company suggests Shareholders should
submit their enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and
mail) and provide sufficient contact details so that the Company
can process their enquiries in a proper and timely manner.
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Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means: % 3R 8] 4% 3@ LA T /5 =0 B AKX A B 22

Address: Flat A-C, 3A/F., Metex House A e
24-32 Fui Yu Kok Street MREE
Tsuen Wan, New Territories IKE B 24-325%
Hong Kong EERKESAEACE
Email: info@amusegroupholding.com B info@amusegroupholding.com
Tel No.: (852) 3702 3276 BRS¢ (852) 3702 3276
Fax No.: (852) 3959 0091 BER © (852) 3959 0091
Corporate Governance Functions TEERBEE
The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate ZEE@EB HEIT N XATH T EEARERN
governance function as set out below: BE -
- To develop and review the Company’s policies and — HIERBHAATEBELCESANBE
practices on corporate governance; NEH
- To review and monitor the training and continuous — ®RFIREREENSAETEBHEIL
professional development of Directors and senior HEIETRE:
management;
- To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices — ®iINERAANTBBEELIENEERT
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; HaREELRTER
—  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and — #IFE FEHLRERERERNEBENEEN
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; TARSTARERFM: &
and
- To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code — M ARaEEATINETELR
and disclosure in the corporate governance report. PEERMEHEEIER -
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The Board is pleased to present this report and the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Corporate Reorganisation

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 16 November 2016. In preparing for the
Listing, the Company became the holding company of the
companies now comprising the Group which had underwent the
Reorganisation (as defined in the Prospectus).

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 12 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the Year.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the Year is provided
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 11 of this annual report. The Group’s risk
management and internal control system is provided in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Code” on pages 19 to
31 of this annual report.

Compliance With the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the Year.
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Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 57 to 62 of this
annual report. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend and resolved not to declare any final dividend in respect
of the Year (2019: Nil).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 148 of this annual
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 20.2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands, is approximately HK$240,000 (2019:
approximately HK$304,000).

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the Year are set out in note 20.1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 60 of this
annual report respectively.
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Borrowings

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020 are
set out in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2020, so far as the Company
is aware, the aggregate revenue attributable to our five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
74.9% and 65.9%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue
for the financial year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 64.1% of the Group’s
total purchases for the financial year and the purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
24.1%. None of the Directors, or any of his close associates (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) or Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the financial
year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the percentage
of public float as prescribed in the GEM Listing Rules for the Year
and at any time up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wai Keung

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. To Hoi Pan
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Pui Hang
Mr. Tung Man
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors shall have
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board
or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
next general meeting of members of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
of the Company and shall then be eligible for reelection.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, notwithstanding any
other provisions in the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are
set out on pages 13 to 18 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he or she has
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years with effect from the Listing date. Either party has the right
to give not less than three months’ written notice to terminate the
service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a fixed term of three years with effect from
the Listing date. Save for the Directors’ fees, none of the
independent non-executive Directors is expected to receive any
other emolument for holding his or her office as a non-executive
Director or an independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed
or entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than the statutory compensation.
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Confirmation of Independency of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Interest in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or
his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

Related Party Transaction

Details of material related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. None
of the material related party transactions disclosed in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements constitute connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction (as defined
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company for
the Year. Accordingly, the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
Listing Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Company.
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Emoluments of the Directors and the Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Emolument Policy

The executive Directors, the independent non-executive Directors
and senior management receive compensation in the form of
directors’ fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation
to the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors and senior management by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, respective responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to the Group and performance of the Group.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children (under 18 years of age), or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement whose objectives are to enable a Director to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors
and Chief Executive in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), Chapter 571),
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities
transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Nature of interest/

EERFETHAEREARAR
fg%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬁqﬂ Ry &

R-E-_ZTF=ZA=+—"H BEZFKARA
FETKRABRARQRSETIHEEE® (F
ERFEST1EBLHMPEGRD ([FHMBEK
B 1) EXVER) KRR - ARG REEES
HHEREBEESMPERPIEXVEET R8HHE
BHMEARBRBRANERSAE (BIEE
LREFFRBPEBRNEBIEXHE ERE
BREEMEZIAR)  AREFHFRBEK
19 55 352 {6 78 50 5 1 52 16 ) P 48 & 50 A9 422
BEAR RBRBEEMESHEITELEIIH
GEM F iR Bl 5.46 £ 5.67 & B E AR RN &
MBS TR SOAR I T -

Percentage of issued

Number of ordinary share capital of

Name of Director Holding capacity shares held the Company

HARBE BT

BExns A8 BatE EREH g ERYE &N Y= e

(Note 1)

(Btat1)

Mr. Li Wai Keung (“Mr. Li”)  Interest of a controlled corporation 525,000,000 (L) 52.50%
FEBEE(TERE]D R AEER (Notes 2, 3)
(KtsE2 - 3)
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Notes: W

1. As at 31 March 2020, the Company issued ordinary share capital was 1. RZT_TF=A=+—H AQRRAZBHITLA
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each. fi% 75 10,000,000 7% 7T (% A& 1,000,000,000 % & A%

E0.01 BT Z D) »

2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd (“Infinite Force”), a company incorporated in 2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd ([ Infinite Force |) & — ER

the British Virgin Islands on 18 October 2016 and an investment holding —E-RETA+ N\ B ERBHBRESTMAL
company, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman ZIREERAT EREELNTERZTRELEE
and an executive Director. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the mHA - Bt - AR ER Infinite Force # A 100%
525,000,000 Shares held by Infinite Force by virtue of his 100% shareholding S - 1% 145 A 7 Infinite Force £ 8 2 525,000,000 f%
interest in Infinite Force. A A A o

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. 3. FEILIEZATRBRMDZHE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the B} £ XA é%é’l\ CTRIZEZEF=A=1—

Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other H »ZZF{ AR ZITBAEBMERERA

interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares or szﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂwfl (E%ﬁ &5 REAE GO
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations S5 XV #8) B D ~ AR M S EEBHEE B
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to BB % R B E K02 352 I8 M EBLALR
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section &1 & K& 0 it A9 #Y (E ] H 1 #E 25 ER/)\F
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the =i 1R # GEM + T iR B £ 5.46 (£ B M & A N
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.  REt X TR TR HE S sA R o
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

As at 31 March 2020, person (other than the directors of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company’s issued share capital, was recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

FERRREQTRS - HERG
REERTRHNESRXR

RIZEZZTF=A=1+—H BAEARRESN"
BEEFNHERAFEBCHKRETHREZER
MATEEs: - AR R A2 EITARA 5% 3k LA
EZ2ARRBROD MEERO 2 EEIAER
ALTHIWAT

Percentage of issued

Nature of interest/ Number of ordinary share capital of
Name of Shareholders Holding capacity shares held the Company
LR YNE TR &)
BRREEEHB Mg EREH g BRREE BAEANEDE
(Note 1)
(Krat1)
Infinite Force Beneficial owner 525,000,000 (L) 52.50%
Em#EAA (Notes 2, 3)
(Bia2 - 3)
Ms. Fong Wing Yan Interest of spouse 525,000,000 (L) 52.50%
(“Ms. Fong”) Bt 18 #E 2 (Note 4)
FHEEZT ([Fzt]) (Krat4)
Notes: et -
1. As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital was 1. RZZEZEF=A=+—H FARARZEHTLA

HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01 each.

2. Infinite Force, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 18
October 2016 and an investment holding company, is wholly and beneficially
owned by Mr. Li who is the Chairman and an executive Director. Therefore,
Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in the 525,000,000 Shares held by Infinite
Force by virtue of his 100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

4. Ms. Fong is the spouse of Mr. Li. She is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Li is interested under Part XV of the SFO.

fi% 7% % 10,000,000 7% 7T (43 4 1,000,000,000 A% & A% [
E0.01 BTz k) °

2. Infinite Force B—RMN =T —XF+A+N\BERE
HBABS MR ZREZERAR  HBAERER
DITESTRE2EERBE Al AR R4
# Infinite Force # 5 100% A% # + 1 4 1% & B Infinite
Force ¥4 2 525,000,000 B B0 R A 425 -

3. FHILEZALRBHZHE -

4. Hﬁiﬁ?%izmﬁ% RIFEH RE B GAIEXV
CRERANFREREERZ RO P AR
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business at ay time during the Year and up to and
including the date of this annual report.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Ample Capital Limited (“Ample Capital”)
to be the compliance adviser. As informed by Ample Capital ,
neither Ample Capital nor any of its directors or employees or
close associates, has or may have, any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities), which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32
of the GEM Listing Rules, except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Ample
Capital dated 10 May 2018.

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

As permitted by the Articles, a director of the Company may be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which the director shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of his or her duty as a director of the Company, to the
extent permitted by law. Such permitted indemnity provision has
been in force since the adoption of the Articles and is currently in
force at the time of approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its
directors and officers.
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Deed of Non-Competition

Each of the controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of its/his compliance with the terms and undertakings
of the deed of non-competition provided to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s
Prospectus). The INEDs have reviewed the status of compliance
and confirmed that all the terms and undertakings under the
Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by the
controlling Shareholders.

Corporate Governance

The Company and its management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is essential for continual growth and enhancement
of shareholder’s value. From the listing date to the date of this
annual report, the Company has applied and complied with
the code provisions stipulated in the Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development in corporate
governance. The Group’s principal corporate governance
practices and compliance with code provisions are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 31 of this annual
report.

Environmental and Corporate Social
Responsibilities

During the Year, the Group is committed to continuously promote
the long-term, stable and sustainable development of employees,
environmental protection and social responsibilities.

The Environmental, Social and Government Report for the Year
containing all information required by the GEM Listing Rules
will be published on the respective websites of GEM and the
Company in due course.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed with management the
Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the accounting
principles and practices adopted and discussed auditing, internal
controls and financial reporting matters.

Auditor

On 7 February 2020, KPMG resigned and ceased to act as the
auditor of the Company (the “Independent Auditor”) and Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant Thornton”) was appointed
as the Independent Auditor to fill the casual vacancy after the
resignation of KPMG (the “Resignation”) and to hold office until
the conclusion of the next AGM. The Board confirmed that
there is no disagreement between the Company and KPMG
and it is not aware of any matters or circumstances in respect
of the Resignation that need to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement of change of auditor published on 10 February
2020.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Grant Thornton
23]

To the shareholders of Amuse Group Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Amuse Group Holding Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 57 to 146, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit and loss, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 2.17.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from the
sale of Original Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) toys to
license holders, sale of own licensed toys and related
products and distribution of imported toys and related
products. Revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has been transferred to the customers in
accordance with the contractual arrangements and
related agreed commercial shipping terms.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue
generated from the sale of ODM toys to license holders,
sale of own licensed toys and related products and
distribution of imported toys and related products are
HK$136,829,000, HK$33,467,000 and HK$36,669,000
respectively.

The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping
terms of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.

We identified the timing of revenue recognition as a key
audit matter because each sales contract may have
different terms and conditions which increases the risk of
error and because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and could be subject to
manipulation to meet targets or expectations.

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue
recognition from sale of toys and related products
included the following:

e understanding and reviewing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over revenue
recognition;

° inspecting key customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify terms and conditions relating to
transfer of control of the goods and assessing the
Group’s timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e comparing revenue transactions recognised
during the year, on a sample basis, with contracts
and goods delivery notes with the customers’
acknowledgement of receipt and acceptance of
the goods or bills of lading and assessing whether
revenue was recognised in accordance with the
Group’s revenue recognition policies;

e comparing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after
the financial year end date with underlying sales
invoices and shipping documents to determine
whether the related revenue had been recognised in
the appropriate financial period; and

® inspecting underlying documentation for manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to meet specific risk-based criteria.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters (Continued)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

Refer to notes 14 and 21.2 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in notes 2.8 and 2.9.

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s major customers primarily include (i) toy
licensees or toy intermediaries based in Japan and the
US; and (i) various distributors of the Group’s imported
toys and related products and own licensed toys and
related products in Hong Kong, Japan, the US, Mainland
China and Taiwan.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Customers located in different jurisdictions are subject
to different local risks specific to those jurisdictions in
addition to the effects of the global economic climate.

Management assesses the lifetime expected credit loss
(“ECL”) allowance required at each reporting date after
taking into account the ageing analysis and loss rate
of trade receivables and any other factors specific to
individual debtors concerned and a collective element
based on historical experience adjusted for certain
current factors.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has gross trade
receivables of HK$7,604,000, Management determines
the ECL allowance on these trade receivables amounting
to HK$186,000.

We identified the impairment assessment on trade
receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significant degree of management judgement involved in
determining the lifetime expected credit loss allowance
for trade receivables and because of the significance
of trade receivables to the consolidated financial
statements.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment on trade receivables included the following:

° understanding and reviewing the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
processes of credit control, collection of trade
receivables and follow up of overdue balances;

e  evaluating the Group’s policy for making lifetime
ECL allowance for trade receivables with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

e assessing the classification of individual balances
in the trade receivables ageing report by
comparison with sales invoices and other underlying
documentation, on a sample basis;

e obtaining an understanding of the key data
and assumptions of the ECL model adopted
by management, including the basis of the
segmentation of the trade receivables based on
credit risk characteristics, the historical default data,
and the assumptions involved in management’s
estimated loss rate;

e  assessing the reasonableness of management’s
lifetime ECL allowance estimates by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data; and

° inspecting, on a sample basis, bank receipts
from customers and other relevant underlying
documentation subsequent to the financial year end
relating to trade receivable balances at 31 March
2020.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in
the 2020 annual report of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e  evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

—E-TEER EREEERERAT 53




BRBERET R BRRAEZERE

EEZAR RESAMBRABRRETFEANRRERMERZ EAERIARSARRE - LA
BEESERAZRUMRS - BE2ERERNBRAREMAMEL AR - BEETHERSE 2 NEM A
fATE A AL 8 B SRRE @R o

EERRBEZRKFZRE ETERBFRBC(EBEEADETZET  EX - EAHRRATERFEEER -
#H AR PRAUA] AR BRRE Sk R ARSI EE - MRS EFAH EME B EARRAEF ERS VB MRERE KB R
RFFER 2 EBERE - RIABE 2 SR AT AR IEE X ©

ERB(ERBMNEIDETEF ZERY BEFERTERHE  RETEXRREE - BFT

o BHRIMFFEANRIFRERMEBGRAMBREFEBAHEREE Z AR - Rt RATRA BT UEEE
LRy ARERFERNEE 2BBRE (EAETEERZEN -ANMGFAI e R BR - hE EFBER
ERERL - OB RARES 2 £ R REZRRABFEMERZ EXFERRE BB SN REHRAH
RMEEZ EAHRRM 2 R -

o TERBEEFHHBEIAMES  ARFTEE2EERF BEMNLIFY SEEREHIAERMERER -

o HEEEMRBEHEEZREMREHEH G MAEREZA R -

s HEFTRARALESTHERZBEEFLER REMENZETRE BRIZOFEREFRABNE
BZERTHEEN  EtMAfEHYE EEEIBELERENELERNRE NRESZAR/FEEATE
EE - AV EERBMBETREEAEIZFEVBHRRTZABEEE REAHAZKETRE  AE
EREVURIFBREBR - BEZEWEENZBENRE B ILFARG ZRBEEE - AT - RRFERBER
AREER BERETRSAELE -

o HERAUBHRRIEBIBIN HBELEAR BREEE UGSV BBRRESTERBMIZHNERE -

e 3 ERBEANERIXBKEIBIUMBESENRTR - HEEZENERE UBHGEAVBHRERERER B
BEREE IR BEMHT - EERBIIBAAEZMEL -

54 Amuse Group Holding Limited  Annual Report 2020




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

23 June 2020

Ng Ka Kong
Practising Certificate No.: P06919
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= N2

Z v'_ﬁ E P
For the year ended 31 March 2020 # = —

—EEZ = —ALEE

2020 2019
—EB-EHF — &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
ihg=2 FET FHET
Revenue Uy 25 4.1 206,965 182,583
Cost of sales $HE AR 13(b) (164,783) (137,423)
Gross profit E A 42,182 45,160
Other net income H A F A 5 6,254 3,278
Selling expenses HEMX (6,882) (5,306)
Administrative expenses THRX (24,515) (19,665)
Bad debts of trade receivables g 5 W FIAZER (4,545) -
Reversal/(Provision) of ECL allowance & 5 U TBTEH{ZEEE
on trade receivables Bz EE (FHR) 82 (309)
Listing expenses Nyl 3 - (2,487)
Loss on deregistration of B m—EHE ARz
a subsidiary 518 12 (904) -
Profit from operations KRR 11,672 20,671
Finance costs A A 6(a) (348) (172)
Profit before taxation BRBE A % A 6 11,324 20,499
Income tax FriS %t 7(@a) (3,874) (5,378)
Profit for the year FREFR 7,450 15,121
Earnings per share for profit EATERRRELEN N
attributable to equity SREF
shareholders of the Company
- Basic and diluted (in cents) - BEAXRREE (L) 10 0.75 1.58

The notes on pages 63 to 146 form part of these financial

statements.

FEE3E 146 B WM T K Z ST HRER A —

B

o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeREkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 B2 = F - T+ = =+ —HI F/EF

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZT-hEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Profit for the year FREF 7,450 15,121
Other comprehensive income for the FREMZEKER (NREHIE
year (net of nil tax and reclassification K EH 2 EHAR)
adjustments)
Itern that may be reclassified subsequently ~E & AJpEEFH H B E18maVIHH -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of BB BB AN B A & 8 &
financial statements of subsidiary outside 2 [E X =%
Hong Kong - 26
Recognition to profit or loss on RS —EM B AR RE
deregistration of a subsidiary EaiER (26) -
Total comprehensive income for the year £RAZHE W H 4% 7,424 15,147

The notes on pages 63 to 146 form part of these financial $63F 146 B MM FFHEKZEHEREDN —

statements. B o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R BRI R

At 31 March20200 R = F —FF = H=+—H
2020 2019
—E2-FF —TNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b= FExT FAT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment property "EME 11 - 10,300
Property, plant and equipment L E Y 11 26,299 15,991
Deferred tax assets EIEFIAE B 19(b) 30 28
Other receivables H A W FRIE 14 1,298 538
27,627 26,857
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 13(a) 3,249 2,633
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b FEYGRIE 14 57,556 49,061
Current tax recoverable A] Ug [e] B HA 75 18 19(a) 1,424 228
Bank deposits and cash RITERERE 15(a) 115,102 110,970
177,331 162,892
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables g5 REMENFIE 16 22,757 18,971
Bank loans RITER 17 3,639 6,374
Lease liabilities HEARE 18 3,471 -
Current tax payable FE A< BN AR AR 18 19(a) 1,356 863
31,223 26,208
Netcurrentassets . REBEEFE 146108 136,684
Total assets less current liabilites #EEBREBEE 173,735 163,541

—E-TEER EREEERsRAT 59




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RE BRI R

At31 March2020 R —ZE —ZFF = H=+—H

2020 2019
—E2-FF —TNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
e FET FET

Non-current liabilities kFBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 18 2,915 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 19(b) 626 771

e 8o AN

Net assets BEEFE 170,194 162,770

Capital and reserves BAR @S
Share capital fi% 7 20.2 10,000 10,000
Reserves (G 160,194 152,770
Total equity RS 170,194 162,770

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EZE@R _Z_ZTF XA+ =ZHLERK

23 June 2020. REFIED

Li Wai Keung To Hoi Pan
TR SR
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 63 to 146 form part of these financial $F63E 146 B M EARZ ST EHRER —

statements. 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % —

E_EE=H=+—HIFEF

Land and
buildings
revaluation
Share Share  Exchange reserve Retained Total
capital  premium reserve (1010 20.3) profits equity
THERT
EftfiR
Bx  ROBE EXRE (Tiag) REEF s
HKS000  HK$O000  HK$O000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
Thn T ThEn Tk T T
Balance at 1 April 2018 RZE-NEMA-BHES . - : 1242 69,261 70,632
Changesinequityfor 2019:  —E-NEEZEE:
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 15,121 15,121
Other comprehensiveincome 2 Bl - - 2% - - %
Todoomprehensieioome  2EKESE T S S T LB
Issue of shares Ik 2,500 85,000 - - - 87,500
Capitalisationissue of shares B¢ & 7M1 7,500 (7,500) - - - -
Transaction costs attibutable to BT EAZ FRE
issue of shares - (10,509) - - - (10,509)
Balance at 31 March 2019and  R=F-AE=R=1-RR
1 April 2019 ZE-AEMB-ANLR 10,000 66,991 2% 1,42 84,382 162,770
Changes inequity for 2020: ~ —E-EEERET:
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 7,450 7,450
Other comprehensiveincome~~ Eft2 @M E - - (26) - - (26)
Total comprehensive income. 2 A& 1EE - - (26) - 7,450 7424
Transfer upon disposal of HERENERER
investment property - - - (1,242) 1,242 -
Balance at 31 March 2020 R-E-SE=A=1-AfK
&8 10,000 66,991 - - 9074 170,19

*

The balances represent amounts less than HK$1,000.

The notes on pages 63 to 146 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
IIVT/\IEIE/J”JE%

For the year ended 31 March 2020 8t —F —F#F = A =+—HIF/&

2020 2019
—EB-EF —T-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHEx T
Operating activities KRB
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 15(b) 13,013 11,273
Hong Kong Profits tax paid BEREBFEH (4,724) (3,427)
Net cash generated from operating K& EEFABREFE
BNV 8,289 7,846
Investing activities RETE
Interest received 2 W F B 1,230 1,028
Decrease/(increase) in bank deposits R E| 88 B & =1 A A L HiE
with original maturities over three TIOR3 )
months 7,458 (17,458)
Payment for the purchase of BELE RAMEENK
equipment, furniture and fixtures (10,295) (4,646)
Proceeds from disposal of investment & & & ¥ P18 FUA
property 10,800 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREZEFE, (A BEE
investing activities & 9193 (21,076)
Financing activities AETE
Repayment of bank loans BEBITER 15(c) (2,735) (208)
Listing expenses paid B ETAX - (7,413)
Interest paid BAFE 15(c) (348) (172)
Proceeds from issuance of shares BT 1% Fr{S k38 - 87,500
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENR 15(c) (2,809) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEZE (FiH), FFEEE
financing activities HE (5892 79,707
Net increase in cash and cash ReRBESEEYEMFE
equivalents 11,590 66,477
Cash and cash equivalents atthe BREMIRERRESZEY
beginning of the reporting period 93,512 27,541
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREEHTE
changes - (506)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe HB|EMRBEESREEZEY
end of the reporting period 15(a) 105,102 93,512

The notes on pages 63 to 146 form part of these financial #63ZE 146 B MM AN Z T B MK —
statements. 7B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 March 2020 8t 2 —E - FF = A =+—HIFFE

1

General information

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited
liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands and the
principal place of business of the Company is at Flat A-C,
3A/F, Metex House 24-32, Fui Yiu Kok Street, Tsuen Wan,
Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 31 May 2018 (the
“Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in design, marketing,
distribution and retail sales of toys and related products.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note
12 to the financial statements.

Significant accounting policies

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A
%/T\l:l

B R R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #t £ — & —ZFF = H=+—H |5

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.1 Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2.3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

2.2 Basis of preparation of the financial

64

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the investment property is stated at their fair value
as explained in note 2.5.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

2 FEETHRRER®
22 WA BHER 2 EE (#)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.2 Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are ZEHFTREARERE iff’ﬁﬁf

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting A e GEHEFT 2 BB MELEE N
estimates are recognised in the period in which the Bl E e AT E BN & BIfER -
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that MZBEEF AT EHTEEHREAU
period, or in the period of the revision and future BEAME - RIS AT EEBER
periods if the revision affects both current and future AR AR BARE MR o

periods.

BEEERMAE LYK RE LRI

Judgements made by management in the application

of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.

2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning or
after 1 April 2019

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following new and amended HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA, which are relevant to the Group’s
operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the annual period beginning on
1 April 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features
with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs

66

(Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are

effective for annual periods beginning or

after 1 April 2019 (Continued)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Other than as noted below, the adoption of these new
and amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how
the results and the financial position for the current and
prior periods have been prepared and presented.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 “Leases” replaces HKAS 17 “Leases” along
with three Interpretations (HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, HK(SIC)-
Int 15 “Operating Leases-Incentives” and HK(SIC)-Int
27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease”). HKFRS 16 has been
applied using the modified retrospective approach,
with the cumulative effect of adopting HKFRS 16 being
recognised in equity as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits for the current period. Prior
periods have not been restated.

For contracts in place at the date of initial application,
the Group has elected to apply the definition of a lease
from HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and has not applied
HKFRS 16 to arrangements that were previously not
identified as lease under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 = &F —ZF# = H=+—H I F/Z2

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FBUX (@)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs 2.3 MMHFFT R KBTI E B

(Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning or
after 1 April 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has elected not to include initial direct
costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset
for operating leases in existence at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, being 1 April 2019. At this
date, the Group has also elected to measure the right-
of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability
adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments
that existed at the date of transition.

Instead of performing an impairment review on the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial application,
the Group has relied on its historic assessment as to
whether leases were onerous immediately before the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16.

On transition, for leases previously accounted for as
operating leases with a remaining lease term of less
than 12 months, the Group has applied the optional
exemptions to not recognise right-of-use assets but to
account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis
over the remaining lease term.

On transition to HKFRS 16, the weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised under HKFRS 16 was 2.95%.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2 — & —F4F = F =+ —HIFFZF

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning or
after 1 April 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The Group has benefited from the use of hindsight for
determining lease term when considering options to
extend and terminate leases.

The following is a reconciliation of total operating lease
commitments at 31 March 2019 to the lease liabilities
recognised at 1 April 2019:

2 FEEFER®@®
2.3 BRI R BB ERUHK

RE R (|)
RZZE—NAFMNA—HK
ZEFRBZ FEREERZ
el MEAE I BB SRS
AR (58)

BB SR ERE 16595 [THE |
(%)

tE AT A (E)

RE B R KR TS 0B IR -
AEBRFHAERONEETHE
HA T 25 o

LATF%EA —hWE=A=+—H
Z‘“**fﬁﬁa%?ﬁ‘i'%ﬂﬁﬁff N
FOA-—HRRcHERBE YK

HK$’000
T
Total operating lease commitments RZE-—NWFZA=1+—BEBEZLE
disclosed at 31 March 2019 HEAERTE 3,901
Recognition exemptions: WREHRE
— Leases with remaining lease term of less  — A NIV R 12@E A 2 E
than 12 months (261)
— Commitments relating to leases — HEFHNENARZTE-—NFNA—
contracted but not commenced on 1 April  BFIAR A E BRI AE
2019 (1,289
Operating leases liabilities before discounting ﬁAﬁEiﬁﬁfZ SHERE 2,355
Discounting using incremental borrowing FEAZE-NFOA—RAZEBEEER
rate as at 1 April 2019 i) (47)
Total lease liabilities recognised under R-ZE—NFHNA—BREEETER
HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 EREAFE16HRERHEABEERR 2,308
Classified as: DR
Current lease liabilities nBEEEE 1,172
Non-current lease liabilities EMEBEERE 1,136
2,308
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning or
after 1 April 2019 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The following table summarises the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement

o F

T/

2 FESTTBE®@

2.3 BNF T REEITEBYK
REZER| (#|)
RZZE—NAFMA—HK
ZEFRBZFEREERZ

el MBI BBV IFRE
ARl ()
BB IR
(%)

tE AT A (E)
TERERBEEESIMEHRE LR
S U AEBMA T —AEMA

EAIE 165 [HE)

of financial position at 1 April 2019: —HXGFEEVBIRARNTE
HK$’000
FHEIT
Increase in right-of-use assets presented in 23 EWME - - BERIENEREE
property, plant and equipment =38 0 2,308
Increase in lease liabilities (non-current portion) FE & & GERENE S ) 10 1,136
Increase in lease liabilities (current portion) MEARORBE D) E M 1,172

As a lessor

Upon initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group is
not required to make any adjustment on transition
for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account
for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16.
Comparative information is not restated.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.3 Adoption of new and amended HKFRSs
(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended
HKFRSs have been published but are not yet effective,
and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution
and HKAS 28 of Assets between

an Investor and its

Associate or Joint

Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

8 Effective date not yet been determined

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for

which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The Directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning on or after the effective
date of the pronouncement. The application of all
these new and amended HKFRSs are not expected
to have material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.4 Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

The Group includes income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and
cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Where certain assets of the subsidiary are measured
at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are accounted for
as if the Company had directly disposed of the related
assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained profits).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2.10).
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.5 Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold or freehold
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at fair value. Any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in the accounting policy
set out in note 2.17.

Before the application of HKFRS 16, when the Group
holds a property interest under an operating lease to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation in
long term, the interest is classified and accounted for
as an investment property on a property-by-property
basis. Any such property interest which has been
classified as an investment property is accounted for
as if it were held under a finance lease.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FBUX (@)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 ME - BMERRZRE

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2.10).
The cost of right-of-use assets are set out in note 2.7.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building situated on Over the shorter of
leasehold land the unexpired
term of lease and their

estimated useful lives,

i.e. 30-50 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 30%
Mould Shorter of the licensed

period of 2 to 3 years
or the remaining of
licensed period

The assets’ residual values, depreciation method and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period.

Gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs
and maintenance, are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
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2.7 Leases

@)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee

(Policy applicable from 1 April 2019)

For any new contracts entered into on or after
1 April 2019, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined
as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys
the right to use an identified asset (the underlying
asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key
evaluations which are whether:

e the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset throughout
the period of use, considering its rights
within the defined scope of the contract; and

e the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period of
use. The Group assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of
use.

For contracts that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease and
non-lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone prices.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FBUX (@)

2.7 Leases (Continued) 2.7 HE @&
(@) Definition of a lease and the Group as a @ MEZEENMAEEER

lessee (Continued) A A (#E)

(Policy applicable from 1 April 2019) (B=ZFE—NFMHA—HE
(Continued) EHEE) (8)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a EREMAZHENGTER
lessee TR

At lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred
by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the
end of the lease, and any lease payments made
in advance of the lease commencement date (net
of any lease incentives received).

Except for those right-of-use assets meeting the
definition of investment properties, the Group
depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-
line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term unless the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership at the end of the lease
term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use
asset (except for those meeting the definition of
investment properties) for impairment when such
indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

76

2.7 Leases (Continued)

(@)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee (Continued)

(Policy applicable from 1 April 2019)
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a
lessee (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payment of
penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability
will be reduced for lease payments made and
increased for interest cost on the lease liability.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as expense in the period on
which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.7 Leases (Continued)
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as a

lessee (Continued) A A (#E)

(Policy applicable from 1 April 2019) (B=ZFE—NFMHA—HE
(Continued) EHEE) (8)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a EREMAZHENGTER
lessee (Continued) "R (E)

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is
already reduced to zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial
position, right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property have been
included in “property, plant and equipment”, the
same line as it presents the underlying assets of
the same nature that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI Pt

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2 — & —F4F = =+ —H IFFE

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.7 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a
lessee (Continued)

(Policy applicable before 1 April 2019)

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a
series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the
Group determines that the arrangement conveys
a right to use a specific asset or assets for an
agreed period of time in return for a payment or
a series of payments. Such a determination is
made based on an evaluation of the substance of
the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.

Operating leases

Where the Group has the right to use of assets
held under operating leases, payments made
under the leases are charged to profit or loss on
a straight line basis over the lease terms except
where an alternative basis is more representative
of the time pattern of benefits to be derived from
the leased assets. Lease incentives received
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.7 Leases (Continued)

(b) The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as
either operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset,
and classified as an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment properties.
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

2.8 Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instruments.

Financial asset is derecognised when the contractual
right to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value,
in case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

80

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

- at amortised cost;
- FVTPL; or

—  fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”).

The classification is determined by both:

— the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss are presented within finance costs
or other net income, except for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) of trade and other receivables which is
presented within administrative expenses.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2.9).

When there is any evidence indicating that the trade
receivable balances become uncollectible, for instance,
when the debtors suffer from liquidation, bankruptcy,
having net liabilities or inadequate cash flow, bad debts
are recognised and the balances are written off in that
period against the corresponding provision for ECL
allowance that has previously been made for these
balances.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the
assets meet the following conditions:

—  they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other net income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect
of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s trade and
other receivables and bank deposits and cash fall into
this category of financial instruments.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loans,
lease liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised costs using the
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges are included within finance
costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in
note 2.7.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Bank loans

Bank loans are recognised initially at fair value less
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, bank loans are stated at amortised
cost with any difference between the amount initially
recognised and redemption value being recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings,
together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Bank loans are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value, and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
the financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including bank deposits and cash and trade and other
receivables).

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 FEETBER@
2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 29 2REERE @

Measurement of ECL (Continued) ATERHEESE®
The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the WAIRTEBEXN - BHBREESEE

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

—  bank deposits and cash, and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECL: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL and recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting
date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual
cash flows, considering the potential for default at
any point during the life of the financial assets. In
calculating the ECL, the Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience and external indicators, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
assets at the reporting date with the risk of default
occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&F BUX (@)
29 EWMEERE @

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash
flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets measured at
amortised cost are set out in note 21.2.

2.10 Impairment of other non-financial assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the investments in subsidiaries and
property, plant and equipment may be impaired or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.10 Impairment of other non-financial assets

(Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash- generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or group of
units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).

—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

2.11 Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sales in the
ordinary course of business.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

2.12 Contract liabilities

88

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2.17). A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 2.8).
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in note
2.9.

2.14 Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

2.15 Accounting for income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI Pt

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # 2 — & —F4F = =+ —H IFFE

2 FEEHE@
QI3RS BEEEY

BelREFEVMERBBITRTHAE
B RBAR=ZEARIHENEF
RIBITERER -REERERE
KME RERKEERBKREER
TEETADEBOMRITESN
AR MREFEY -RE MR
S EBEBWRBENHZE2.9MEER
B EEERETE -

214 EERF

e FERL BHFR TE
FEFGR ARG Bl R R FEE AR F
MRAREBRBEEBRGNEE
NEL - ENAIENEELRY
EBEXN ZESoREAREINR-

215 FRiSBiE 5t

F AP 15 B B ¥R B B A 1R R R RE R
HEEMRBENES - BIHKRAR
EERBREERBENZETHNE
SRR BEEMbEERSNE
EhERaTRANEEER - BIA
PARATE D B EHEAMEE etk
BERAERaTTRER -

BRI R RAR RSP RS £
FARABMEEEMOHERFAER
BWAGTEN AR EABIER - AR
sUBEFEEATUREL A EATRZ -

—E-TEsR EREEERsRAT 89




2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period
as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2.5, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&F BUX (@)

2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued) 215 FTSH ST EE (|)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and BEIRI B MR ERIEA % &
movements therein, are presented separately from HEHoMANR U ATEBE &
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets REBEEFE LT EHI B TRF AR
are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred M A ERERNTIES E - Al
tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if the Group HIEEEMB A EaEKE -
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax ARELEHIEEEMREHIEAE
assets against current tax liabilities and the following i - WATTE T IS G

additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, - HBHBBBEEERAE X
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, SEBIRIFBREELE A
or to realise the asset and settle the liability BERZEENMBEEZAERE:
simultaneously; or B9

—  in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, - EBELEBHEEERBE %
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same BE N B EE R S
taxation authority on either: A TER —IBHEKORTER

B

()  the same taxable entity; or () FMERERNELE: &

(i) different taxable entities, which, in each (i) TRERMELRL FHEE
future period in which significant amounts of EHEERSENRELER
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected HEEXREEATFENRX
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise I B /) & B R R EAR - 4%
the current tax assets and settle the current EEEECES I A EA R A A
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and EREENBHEAE
settle simultaneously. SRR ERANBHREBEEE

KBEEERERE -
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive present obligation arising as a result
of a past event and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provision are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events not wholly within the control of the Group,
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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=

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 = &F —ZF# = H=+—H I F/Z2

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&F BUX (@)

2.17 Revenue recognition 217 R FER

Revenue arises mainly from the sale of toys and related
products.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group
follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is
allocated amongst the various performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of toys and related products.
Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

2 FESTTBE®@
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.17 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sale of toys and related products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer takes possession of and accepts the
products.

Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out in
note 2.7.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. For financial
assets measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2.9).

Management fee income

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
Group has performed its performance obligation to the
customer.

2.18 Translation of foreign currencies

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies and non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.18 Translation of foreign currencies

(Continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities.

In the consolidated financial statements, the results
of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

2.19 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

2.20 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
()  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
@iy is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FBUX (@)

2.20 Related parties (Continued) 2.20 BEE 7 (&)
(o) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (o) WRFE T 5 EM 1|7r<1¢ Bz &
following conditions applies: BEHAEEEGHE

()  The entity and the Group are members of () ZELEAZEEBR %
the same group. Epdpd=VN-K

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture iy —HERBAS —ZEBHH
of the other entity (or an associate or joint ERaReaEtE (A
venture of a member of a group of which the —EBEAEKERAIZE
other entity is a member). ETKERARZHEERNA

LEEDRHE) o

(i) The entity and the Group are joint ventures (iy EREAEEHAR —F
of the same third party. —AREERE-

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy —HEBRE=ZFEEN
and the other entity is an associate of the EETE ME—EER
third entity. ZE-HEENEBENT -

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan V) ZEBAASENERE
for the benefit of employees of either the MEEEREER
Group or an entity related to the Group. TRER S M BB R R R B -

(vl The entity is controlled or jointly controlled Vi) ZEREXN(@MMMHAE
by a person identified in (a). Z AT R KRS

(vii) A person identified in (a)() has significant (i) R@OFrts REZ AL
influence over the entity or is a member of HZEBBEATENL
the key management personnel of the entity BZER (ZEEN
(or of a parent of the entity). NEl) EZERBEKE -

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of (vii) ZEBIEFBESEEEM
which it is a part, provides key management RE RABIRAEE A S
personnel services to the Group or to the BN RARREETEZEERE
Group’s parent. ANBERTE ©

Close members of the family of a person are those HZ ATBHEZIYHNRERES 2
family members who may be expected to influence, or HMAERERETS S FBEA
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the EEEEZATHIIZATEED
entity. REKE °
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
2.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
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RERNKLED BEA ALK
B PIREIE AR — 53 BFDIR ©

the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

3 fAEFFAREMMNERRIR
P FRE M i 2 PR ALY AN S M B SRS -
NG £ VR Y R
RIS MM B R B AR A

3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 2, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are et BBk - BT MEERK IR
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and BRERLR LR SA AN EMEEE
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience o BERAERAEFRINZEEET -

and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

BRI RABER S RETEY -
51 3T S8 3 BB T 1 T O HARS - BB 3%

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are

recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised HEER G aER] - SMIEETR
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the B R B IR I R R B - BB AT AR A

FARREE R G AT ER -

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A PR AR R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 3 M THREENETERR@

(Continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities,
are described below.

3.1 Estimated useful lives of property, plant

and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of its property,
plant and equipment based on the periods cover
which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The Group reviews annually their estimated useful
lives, based on factors that include asset utilisation,
the expected physical wear and tear, environmental
factors and anticipated use of the assets tempered by
related industry benchmark information. It is possible
that future results of operation could be materially
affected by changes in these estimates brought about
by changes in factors mentioned. A reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
would increase depreciation charges and decrease the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment.

3.2 Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
and other receivables by assessing the ECL. This
requires the use of estimates and judgements. ECL are
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
and an assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the end of reporting
period. As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables amounted to
HK$58,854,000 (net of ECL allowance of HK$186,000)
(2019: HK$49,599,000 net of ECL allowance of
HK$407,000). Where the estimation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will affect the
carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
thus the impairment loss in the period in which such
estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 # % —E —FF = H =+—HIFF/Z
4 Revenue and segment reporting 4 WERDIBHE
4.1 Revenue 4.1 W=
The principal activities of the Group are design, AEBWHETEEH ARG 2
marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys and SDEREEMARBBAER -
related products.
Disaggregation of revenue W &l
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with RE-—GREMERNE P &L
customers which are recognised at a point in time by HIZETEEREIDWT
major products is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Revenue from contracts withinthe BB IEREEDF 1555
scope of HKFRS 15 HEAWESHKE
Sales of ODM toys to license holders IHEODMITE FHFHE A 136,829 103,088
Distribution of imported toys and related %3 ##3& 0 It & & fA B8 & @
products 36,669 54,319
Sales of own licensed toys and related  $EE B REFFIIA R
products HEREE 33,467 25,176
206,965 182,583
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EEAHNKNFRMETEHNEI SR
customers by geographic markets is disclosed in note MEF4.39E -
4.3.

100 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2020




4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)
4.1 Revenue (Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

The Group’s customers are primarily distributors based
in Japan. The percentage of revenue contributed by
the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended
31 March 2020 amounted to approximately 75%
(2019: 74%)

The Group manages its business by three divisions,
namely sale of ODM toys, sale of own licensed toys
and related products and distribution of imported toys
and related products. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to
the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified the following
three reportable segments, which are sale of ODM toys
to license holders, distribution of imported toys and
related products and sale of own licensed toys and
related products respectively. No operating segments
have been aggregated to form the following reportable
segments.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results based on the revenue and expenses which are
allocated to the reportable segments with reference
to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

Segment assets, segment liabilities and other segment
information is not reported or used by the Group’s
most senior executive management.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 WKk 7 ZBHE (&

4.1 Revenue (Continued) 4.1 Wz (&)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) Wt 859 (4
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments HEZZ-F ¢ K_ZE-—NE=H
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive —+—BLEFE HoBEERESD
management for the purposes of resource allocation MERBEFEMAEEESTHRER
and assessment of segment performance for the year REBEAEETERSINE
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 is set out below: EoEsmT -
Distribution of Sales of own
imported toys licensed toys
Sales of ODM toys and related products and related products Total
HEOMTE AHEOGARERER HEEFHIRAREEER it
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

e08E ST CESEE CTNF CESHE TUF CESEE RS
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET  TER TAL TR TEL  TER TAR

Revenue from external customers 9MS & Pl 136,829 108,088 36,669 54,319 33,467 25,176 206,965 182,583
Inter-segment revenue P ARG 210 - 7,056 8,671 28,062 17,551 35,388 26,222
Reportable segment revenve ~ AIZHA U E 137,099 103,088 43,725 62,990 61,529 Q1 242,353 208,805
Reportable segment profitloss) ¥ 24 A/ (B8) 4,498 10,008 4315 5348 (2.491) 4524 6,322 19,880
Depreciation for the year FRTE 1,181 420 1,325 148 5,290 3,168 7,19% 373

Addltions to non-current segment ERENIERE S HEE

assets (other than financia (GRIARERREEE

instruments and deferred tax ~~ BJ1)

assets) during the year 510 50 3,430 2216 13,242 2,380 17,182 4,646
Revenue expected to be recognised in the HBEARREAERTPNEN
future arising from contracts with customers A2 A B TEEE A B 16 TR R A
in existence at the reporting date Wz
The Group has applied the practical expedient in AEEBCEAEAMBHMEERSE
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts 155 E121BEM AT R A2 H
for goods such that the above information does not HmEEEL UELRERITEB
include information about revenue that the Group %ﬁ%lﬁ’:‘)@ TEmIBEAN(RE
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining R HENEA—FLER)ETH
performance obligations under the contracts for sales FHBEONEAREREESOHNE 2
of goods that had an original expected duration of one B} o
year or less.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &t 2 — & —F#=H=+—H I F/Z

4 WERDEIHKE @)
=

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)

4.2 Reconciliations of reportable segment 4.2 A 2/ 7 I E AL AR
profit
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Profit i Al
Reportable segment profit derived from  JRRA A5 B MR F &9 A]
the Group’s external customers 2o EEF 6,322 19,880
Other net income HAth U A 6,254 3,278
Listing expenses FHAX - (2,487)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~ fisE = —FEMHMEB R R 2
&1 (904) -
Finance costs BhE AR (348) (172)
Consolidated profit before taxation ERE BR A R A 11,324 20,499

4.3 Geographic information

4.3

The following table sets out information about the
geographic location of (i) sale of ODM toys, (ii)
distribution of imported toys and related products and
(iii) sale of own licensed toys and related products. The
geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the goods were delivered.

i & & #
T &5 E A ()8 EODMIT A ¢ (i)
S EEHE O I A K AR B E G K (i) SH &
BRFAMAREHEEROMEE
BexPmaEmENREE RN
HETE °

Revenue from external customers

HEEF U
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) RS 21,793 33,286 _
Japan SN 137,387 104,205
The United States x 10,786 4,708
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) REAREME(HE]) 13,229 15,321
Taiwan =y 10,072 8,036
Others =i} 13,698 17,027
] 185172 149,297
206,965 182,583
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 g1 % — L —FF = H =+ —HIFFJE
4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 Wz R 2 PR E @)
4.4 Information about major customers 44 FEEFNEHR
Revenue from customers during the year contributing FREAKERZB10%HEF B
over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: W5 & T -
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Group’s largest customer KEBZKRKER 136,390 104,200
5 Other netincome 5 HFEKA
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Bank interest income SRITH BUR A 1,313 1,028
Compensation income AEKA 1,113 569
Net exchange gain/(loss) &N ek (F518) 55 605 23)
Freight charge income EEIA 576 386
Gain on disposal of investment property  HEREE 2 Uz 500 -
Management fee income EERBRA 1,838 959
Rental income el A 114 240
Sundry income B A 195 119
6,254 3,278
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (% — &

6 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

6 BRBL A A
B3 B AT T AR A DA T AR S B

2020 2019
—E-FF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
(a) Finance costs (@ ®ERA
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B 169 172
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 179 -
348 172
(b) Staff costs (excluding directors’ (b) EIRA (TEIEES
remuneration) <)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMER 8,534 7,808
Contributions to defined JEREH FORIRET B3k
contributions retirement plans 343 337
8,877 8,145
(c) Otheritems (c) HftEH
Depreciation: IE -
— Owned assets - HBEEE 4,635 3,736
~ Right-of-use assets - EREEE 3,161 -
Total depreciation e 7,796 3,736
Lease charges: MEEBHR :
— Operating lease charges for land - T REFLEHRE
and buildings =g - 2,138
— Short term leases and leases - RHHEERERERS
with lease term shorter than SIS RS 4ERIZE 16
12 months as at initial application SRESFERRE N 12ME B
of HKFRS 16 BHEE 261 -
Total lease charges MEBREHE 261 2,138
Auditors’ remuneration 2% EXAD B 5 750 1,400
Bad debts of trade receivables 2 S rEWEEEER 4,545 -
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME W
property (500) -
Loss on deregistration of a BEEM—ERB AR
subsidiary B8 904 -
(Reversal of)/Provision for ECL S REWHIETEREEE
allowance on trade receivables BEEZ (BL),5HE (82) 309
Provision for inventories FERE 200 50
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2 A + 2
e IRRMIGE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 # £ —ZF —ZF 4 = A =+—HIFF)Z
7 Income tax in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

(@)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

REBBERANAES

(@) HAEBERANMAEHRIE

2020 2019
—ECEF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax B8 — HEFEH
Provision for the year F N 4,454 4,855
(Over)/Under provision in respect of BEFE (BERE) &
prior years HrR (433) 527
4,021 5,382
Deferred tax EER IR
Origination and reversal of temporary Rl = B 2 B4 M B E
differences (note 19(b)) (Bt 19b) (147) (4)
3,874 5,378

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020
is calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits for the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying entities are
taxed at 8.25%, and the profits above HK$2 million are
taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax for this subsidiary was calculated at the same
basis in 2019.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2020
has also taken into account a reduction granted
by the Hong Kong SAR Government of 75% of the
tax payable for the year of assessment 2019-20.
The Company is eligible for the maximum reduction
of HK$20,000 (2019: a maximum reduction of
HK$20,000 was granted for the year of assessment
2018-19 and was taken into account in calculating the
provision for 2019).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 8% —E —FF = =1 —HIFF &
7 Income tax in the consolidated 7 ZREBERANAEH &
statement of profit or loss (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting b)) FIEHRATHEZERATEXFTENS
profit at applicable tax rates: R SR
2020 2019
—E-EF —ET-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before taxation B 151 Bl i A 11,324 20,499
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BT FZEF - I2EH
calculated at the rates applicable to  &]JA#E [& &))@ A1) 38 F 15 =
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 5t & 1,704 3,916
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7F AMBRAINBR G E 2,565 531
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARRBANR G E (176) (32)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not  RER KB B FEEAOM
recognised f“ B 286 74
(Over)/Under-provision in prior years — @1E4EE (FREEREME) /Bl
R (433) 527
Others Hitb (72) 362
Actual tax expense BEBRMRIERAE 3,874 5,378
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/ \
gl ;7<)
P ZIN/

8 Directors’ emoluments 8 EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to the Listing BIE EmRA - BB QARG 383(1) &
Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies AR (BEEEFZER) RME23
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of EEMeEENOT -
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Discretionary  Retirement
Directors’  and benefits bonuses scheme
fees in kind (note v)  contributions Total
EER BEREA RRGHE
Exne ENEHN (#itv) 3 st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET TAT TAT T

2020 —E-ER
Executive Directors HiTEZE
— Mr. Li Wai Keung - FEREE

(Chief Executive Officer) (TTH#83) - 1,797 1,200 18 3,015
—Mr. To Hoi Pan - HEREE - 994 - 18 1,012
- Ms. Lee Kwai Fong - FEFLL - 496 50 18 564
Non-executive director FHiTEE

- Mr. Na Zhiming (nota (i) — BEBEE W)

Independent Non-executive ~ B HEHTEE

Directors
~Ms. Chow ChiLing Janice ~ — A5 2 £ (M)

(note (i) 120 - - 6 126
—Mr.YuPuiHang fnote i) ~ — &8 AE (1) 120 - - 6 126
- Mr. Tung Man (note (ii}) — EXRE W i) 120 - - 6 126

360 3,287 1,250 72 4,969
2019 .
Executive Directors HITEZE
- Mr. Li Wai Keung - FEBEAE - 1,870 1,000 18 2,888
—Mr. To Hoi Pan — SR EE - 845 - 18 863
- Ms. Lee Kwai Fong - EEFLE - 461 80 18 559
Non-executive director FHTEE
-Mr.NaZhiming (note (i)~ — B854 (L) - - - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ B S iTEE

Directors
-Ms. Chow ChiLing Janice ~ — B 20+ (#7:2 i)

(note (i) 100 - - 5 105
- Mr. Yu PuiHang (note (i)~ — FibBIEE (B i) 100 - - 5 105
—Mr. Tung Man (note (ii)) — BEXRE W0 100 - - 5 105

300 3,176 1,080 69 4,625
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/

8

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

(iv)

During the year, there was no amount paid or payable by the Group
to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as set out in
note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. And, there was no arrangement under
which a director has waived or agreed to waive any emolument during
the year.

Mr. Na Zhiming was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company on 16 November 2018 and retired on 13 August 2019.

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice, Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Mr. Tung Man were
appointed as independent non-executive directors of the Company on
11 May 2018.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the year.

Discretionary bonus are determined by the remuneration committee
of the Company from time to time by reference to prevailing market
conditions, the performance of the Company as well as individual
performance.

Wik :

(i

(i)

(iv)

8 EEMEuwm

RNER AEETEAEEREFNRLERSFH
A £ (AT SCHTRE 9 PT#0) SIS I 4
IR ERMAREENE S BEREE -
BE  NFEABEEEH 2R ZH R EMH
EOZH -

MEHAENR T NF+—ATBEZ
ERARRBFATESR YR _FE—-NFNA
T=HRE-

AERLL RFELEEREXEER-F
—NFRA+—REZERARRARBIIERT
-

FRAARRL B EMBREFBATHBEAR
AL -

BBEABARRFHE R G THRELHT
BER - ARBEEREAEEMET °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5= & #5855 -

9

Individuals with highest emoluments 9

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
(2019: three) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other two (2019: two) individuals are as follows:

REFMAL
RAZE=RFMALES =2 (=ZF
—NEF =ZR) EENFH MRN8 WE -
ATRHATME (ZE—AF:WE) A
TE R B AR

2020 2019

= —ENF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FHT

Salaries and other emoluments FehEMe 750 718
Discretionary bonuses B IEIEAL 100 100
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B R 35 34
885 852

The emoluments of the two (2019: two) individuals with the

ME(CE-NAF MB)ERFTMAL

highest emoluments are within the following band: BHENEL T EHE 2R -
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$Nil — HK$ 1,000,000 =7 702 1,000,000 %5 70 2 2
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(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

10 SREF

10 Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$7,450,000 (2019: HK$15,121,000) and
weighted average of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 958,904,110
shares).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is
calculated as follows:

BREARFDIBREHEZE T _TF =
A=Z+—BLEFEARREBERRR
FE {5 35% F 7,450,000 T (ZE — AL F -
15,121,000 7o) & B 817 & i I o4&
15 2 1,000,000,000 % (= — L4 :
958,904,110%) 51 & -

BARMNEFHOEEERAT

2020 2019
—E=FF —TNF
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning MR & AV E 317X @A
of the reporting period 1,000,000,000 20,000
Capitalisation issue on 31 May 2018 RZE—N\FREA=+—H
BAR(LETT - 749,980,000
Effect of shares offer on 31 May 2018 RZE—N\FHRHA=+—H
RIDEE2TE - 208,904,110
Weighted average number of shares BTG T
in issue 1,000,000,000 958,904,110

In order to present a meaningful earnings per share, the
capitalisation took place on 31 May 2018 (note 20.2) is
deemed to be completed on 1 April 2018 and the weighted
average number of shares in 2019 has been adjusted
accordingly. There was no difference between basic and
diluted earnings per share as the Company did not have any
dilutive potential shares outstanding during the years ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

SLTE2IEBRANEEEE R_-_F
—N\FEA=+—H#&TZERL (M
20.2) WARMER T~ \FHA—HBEX
ERZZFB-NFZBRONEFHHEE
HERARE -HRARARBE_T_F
FR_E-NF=ZA=+—BLFEY
BERBTEIINZBEEETRD 8K
ERANEERNTEER -
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11 Investment property and other property, 11 REVERHMYE  BER
&

plant and equipment &
Leasehold Office Motor Investment
Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Moulds Sub-total property Total

BT HERE HLOERE AE BA M RENE &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS000

AL ThER AL Tin AL TER TEL TET
Cost or valuation: AL ME:
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\EmA-H 13,788 989 562 987 12,219 28,535 10,300 38,835
Addtions HE - 2,008 289 - 2,349 4,646 - 4,646
Exchange adjustments EiAE - () - - - 6) - 6)
At31 March 2019 RZZ-NE=R=1-A 13,788 2992 841 97 14,568 3,176 10,300 43,476
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NERA-H 13,788 2,992 841 987 14,568 33,176 10,300 43476
Impact on infial applcationon & R fE A E A 4 2
HKFRS 16 10223 E1682 T2 W23) 2308 - - - - 2308 - 2308
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 R=E—-ALEMA—H
LS 16,096 2992 841 987 14,568 35,484 10,300 45,784
Addttions RE 6,887 2,030 207 - 7,988 17,182 - 17,182
Disposal e - - - - - - 030 (10300)
Derecognition of asubsiciary B R—EHELR - (1,569) - - - (1,569) - (1,569)
At 31 March 2020 W-B-E5=f=1-H 22,983 3,453 1,118 987 22,556 51,097 - 51,097
Accumulated depreciation: 237 :
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\EMA-H 1,716 843 329 97 9,575 13,450 - 13,450
Charge for the year Enik 285 261 %8 - 3,002 3736 - 3736
Exchange adjustments EXAE - )] - - - ) - 1)
At31 March 2019 RZZ-AEZA=1-H 2,001 1,103 427 %87 12,667 17,185 - 17,185
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-A 2,001 1,103 47 987 12,667 17,185 - 17,185
Charge for the year ERk 3675 369 160 - 3,592 7,796 - 7,79
Elimination upon deregistraton i —EMBAFRHH
of a subsidiary - (183) - - - (183) - (183)
At 31 March 2020 RZBZZE=A=1-A 5,676 1,289 587 987 16,259 24,798 - 24,798
Net book value: BEFE:
At 31 March 2020 R-B-SE=fA=1-A 17,307 2,164 531 - 6,297 26,299 - 26,299
At31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-8 11,787 1889 44 - 1,901 15,991 10,300 26,291
Note: At 31 March 2020, the Group’s Buildings with an aggregate carrying Bt  RZZE-TF=RA=+—H0 HLEEEAR
value of HK$6,422,000 (2019: aggregate carrying value of investment 6,422,000 8T (ZF—NF : REWENE
property and building amounting to HK$16,899,000) were mortgaged F 44 BF T {8 16,899,000 78 7T) KA £ @2 F
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. BTiRiE - NIEHASEERNERTRE -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

11 REMERHMYE - BER
B

—E—F

11 Investment property and other property,
plant and equipment (Continued)
As at 31 March 2020, included in the net carrying amount
of property, plant and equipment are right-of-use assets as

\
R
N

(&)
F=A=+—H FAWE-

—=

R 5 MR R I RR D HE R E S E T

follows:
HK$’000
FER
Building carried at cost BRASIRZIETF
As at 1 April 2019 (upon initial application MRZ=ZZF—HFWMA—H (HXERE BB HR
of HKFRS 16) HHAE16518) 2,308
Additions NE 6,887
Depreciation for the year FAFE (3,161)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE_ZTF=A=+—H 6,034

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total additions
to right-of-use assets included in buildings, amounting to
HK$6,887,000. The details in relation to these leases are set
out in note 18.

11.1 Fair value measurement of property 1.1

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
property at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis is categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference
to the observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs, either
directly or indirectly, which fail to meet Level 1,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

RNEBE_Z-_EF=A=+—HILFE
EFETHNERAEBEEENENBER
6,887,000/ 7L c EZEHENFIBH
AMIFE18 ©

W N AT E B
AT EER

AEBEREMERBSPRREL
FEENRAVFEAENBERETRY
BHMEERNFEIBR A FEAEDAH
EENZEARNAFEBR - 2F
EFENRBERINBURREART
FI 4 (B B0 6 B A BUR ey AT B A2
EREEN:

E—MAEE ERE—REA
235 (EIE R A B 1D 5 R
B R B 4R BB RE)
IR DA -

E_AMAE BEEIBEEEA
F R ABE (ARENE
F—RBH A BREABE)
MmARNERBERTABERENE
BRI 8 R FE Al B R
BIEEMEMISEM ZBIE -

F=REE:-EREATAH
ENBABIBRIEATE-
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11 Investment property and other property, 11 REVERHMYE  BER
plant and equipment (Continued) =B @

111 MENAFETE @)

11.1 Fair value measurement of property

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The investment property was revalued at 31 March
2019 by an independent firm of surveyors, BMI
Appraisals Limited. They have staff with recognised
professional qualifications and relevant experience in
the location and category of investment properties
being revalued. The Company’s management has
discussion with the surveyors on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation
is performed at each interim and annual reporting date.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s investment property
falls into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as described
above.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

AR IEVEFIYE )
REMER_ZT-NEF=ZA=1—
H i — B8 28 8 A 17+ A LB AT
HERAREMEE - ZFRAHR
ERERUEXERINEFBNK
BYMEMH BRI HEREREER -
ARAEREBCRETHMRFER
& B A E 7T A i R B AT R A E R
REEEERETHR

RZZE-NAF=A=+—RH K&
BRERENEHBRN EXAFE
BRHE=/ -

=M TFEEOER

Location of properties Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
MEHE RERN TUBRBAYE #E
Hong Kong - Commercial Direct comparison approach  (Discount)/premium on 31 March 2019: (3.8%) t0 9.7%
property quality of the buildings
TR - BEDE ERERE BFEZ(E) /BB  ZE-NEZAZT-H:B8%ET%

The fair values of investment property located in Hong
Kong are determined by using direct comparison
approach with reference to the market price of
comparable properties and adjusted for building
quality and timing of the reference transactions. Higher
premium for investment property will result in a higher
fair value measurement.

During the year, the Group disposed of a commercial
property in Hong Kong to a third party, which was
classified as level 3 recurring fair value measurements
of approximately HK$10,300,000. The gain on disposal
of this property of HK$500,000 was recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the
year.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (b = 7 #5855 - 15

11 REWMERHEMYE - BER

11 Investment property and other property,
plant and equipment (Continued)

11.2 Asset leased out under operating lease
The Group leased out investment property under
operating lease. The lease typically run for an initial
period of 2 years, with an option to renew the lease
after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated.
The lease does not include contingent rentals.

Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating lease are receivable as

B0 )

N2 REKEHEHEANEE
AEBBBELHASERAREDE -
SEHERY—RABME KA
RZAREEEENERENER
FaER - MEYTBESRRES -

THRHEEEHEER THERKR
1R TH SRR 7 DA T BAFE Y ER ¢

follows:
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx T
Within 1 year —F R - 242
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA - 20
- 262
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12 Investments in subsidiaries 12 RIBARKNKRE
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TRENESZLEE EENBRDY
which affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. AEENMBATEFS BRI BEMEIN
The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. Fir s AR (0 X8 Rl 38 E 3 AR o

Proportion of ownership interest

FRRRELY
Place of Group's
incorporation and  Particulars of issued effective
Name of company business and paid up capital interest ~ Held by the Company ~ Held by a subsidiary  Principal activity
ERALR BRARAR AEEN HAAE HHEAE
nAER EXHY Rt ERRR 23 52 IEEH
2020 219 2020 219
SRR CR0F CRCRE CRAR
Amuse Intermationl Investment Limited ~ Brish Virgin Isknds -~ US$20,000 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding
FERARRARRAT ABEARNE  000%T REBR
Amuse Luck Limited Hong Kong HKS 1 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of toys
EHERAT i %71 HERZERA
Shenzhen Hunared Good The PRC HKS$680,000 100% - - - 100%  Sale and marketing of toys
Trade Co. Lid /e f))
MIRFERERAR W) H 680,000/ 7 HERZERA
Bestne Creative Development Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys and related
products
BREISERARAT B 10,0007 Rt REENAREBER
Sentinel International Co. Hong Kong HKS$12,000 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys and related
Limited products
TERERARAT B 12,0007 Rt REENAREBER
Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% - - 100% 100%  Design and sale of toys and related
products
RENARRAT B 10,0007 Rt REERAREBER
D4 Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK§10,000 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of toys
B 10,0007 BEREERA
Moon One Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong HK§10,000 100% - - 100% 100%  Sale and marketing of toys
A-TAERAR & 10,0007 BERZERA
DA Toys (overseg) Co., Lid. Briish Virgin Islands  US$50,000 100% - - 100% 100% Dormant
AEAEREE  S000%T i3
Amuse Development Ltd. fhote ) Bitish Virgin Islnds U850,000 100% 100% - - - Investment holding
BRERERAA Hat) ABEARNE 500007 REARK
Amuse Capital Ltd. e ) (F7) Briish VirgnIslanas - US$50,000 100% 100% - - - Domant
ZBEARES  S0000%T TERH
Sentingl Interational (US) The United Statedl of US$10,000 100% - - 100% - Dormant
Company Ltd. ot () America
TERER RE)ERAR () H2ERE  10000%7 TEXH
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12 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)

12 RITB A BIMIRE @)

Notes: Hiat:

)  On 30 July 2019, the Group applied to deregister a wholly owned ) RZZF-NAFEA=1+RH FTE£EEL2ENBR
subsidiary, Shenzhen Hundred Good Trade Co, Ltd. The deregistration AR B FEHERRA R RFERIEEM - &M
was completed on 7 August 2019. HAMBERZZE-AFNALBTK -

Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date of deregistration was RREEEMEAKIEIERNEELBEARDY
approximately HK$878,000. Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries is 878,000/ 7T » HEH M B A R M BB RL
approximately HK$904,000. 904,000 7T °
2020
S L
HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment Y BB R&E 1,386
Other payables H fth J& A 3RIR (456)
Accumulated loss K5t E518 (1,808)
Capital deficiency BB (878)
Recognition to profit or loss on deregistration of a B — K B A AR R IR ER
subsidiary (26)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary B — R B A Rl ES 1R (904)

(i) Newly established during the year ended 31 March 2020.

i) REE-T-TFZA=+—BHLEFEHKL -
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13 Inventories

13

(@ Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

1/

rE

(@ MNEARFBRARAZFERR:

2020 2019
—B-FF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Merchandise held for sale HEHEE M 3,249 2,633
(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised ) BRREFAIEFABRNFEESE
as an expense and included in the profit or loss is as SATHIE AT
follows:
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Carrying amount of inventories sold B &7EF & Z REE 164,583 137,373
Write down of inventories FEMR 200 50
164,783 137,423
14 Trade and other receivables 14 B R E b EIRTIT
2020 2019
S i —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Trade receivables B S EWRIE
Trade receivables — gross g oI GIE AR 7,604 19,539
Less: ECL allowance B TEEEEEIERE (186) (407)
Trade receivables — net g5 GIEFEE 7,418 19,132
Other receivables H{th e W FRIE
Other receivables — gross Ho b fE W S I 4258 4,584 1,694
Less: ECL allowance B TEHEEBERE - -
Other receivables — net HoAth JE IR R 4,584 1,694
Deposits and prepayments e RIERFIA 46,852 28,773
58,854 49,599
Less: Portion due over one year included J& : s AIEREBEEE T H)
under non-current assets —FI1E IS (1,298) (538)
57,556 49,061
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14 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Apart from the above, all of the prepayments, deposits
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expenses within one year.

Ageing analysis

Details of the ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of
ECL allowance), based on the invoice date, as of the end of

=)
YN

14 E5 Kk H i EWRIE @)
BRI FETEMNZIE RERA
o, /8 Uiy 2 TE 78 HA 7 — 4E PO g 1Bl 3k FE R

FiSZ

AR 2 T

RBREHRBREEZAHNE Z R
BB EREEBERER) REOTHF

the reporting period are as follows: BT :
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Less than 30 days LR30H 5,451 8,652
31 to 60 days 31260H 705 33
61 to 90 days 61290 H 1,203 840
Over 91 days HBi®o1 B 59 9,607
7,418 19,132

Trade debtors are due within O to 60 days from the date of
billing. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit
risk arising from trade debtors are set out in note 21.2.

The movement in the ECL allowance is as follows:

BIREEENEZAHEFOEE0R

NEH - AEAEEEE

KR KB 5 e

WHREEERBRNEZFBHNME

212 ¢

BHEEERRENESHNT

2020 2019

e i —ENF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

At the beginning of the year REH 407 98

ECL allowance recognised ERRBHEEHERE 4,548 309

Amount written off during the year FAEMBESEE (4,684) -
Reversal of ECL allowance recognised BRERTEEEESBEE

#m (85) -

At the end of the year RER 186 407

—s-TesR EReErRarad 119




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

15 Bank deposits and cash 15 RITEFRRRE
(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (@) RekBReZEMRE
2020 2019
S i —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Cash at bank and on hand RITMFEES 60,235 56,512
Bank deposits with original maturities EZIH B A& =1& A WK
within three months RITFE 44,867 37,000
Cash and cash equivalents in the 4R é-\ RenmERNRE R
consolidated cash flow statement 2EEY 105,102 93,512
Bank deposits with original maturities J?\@J ,Hﬂ HABBR=EAK
over three months RITTFEK 10,000 17,458
115,102 110,970
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBAEMELEMBR AR -
generated from operations:
2020 2019
—E-EZF —NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Profit before taxation BR T A& A 11,324 20,499
Adjustments for: FAT SR
Depreciation e 7,796 3,736
Interest income from bank deposits RITIFEFRFEUA (1,313) (1,028)
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 169 172
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 179 -
Gain on disposal of investment HERE %%Hﬁlﬁ?’i
property (500) -
Foreign exchange loss HNEE B 18 - 536
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary BT —ANB AR EE 904 -
Bad debts of trade receivables B S RWGIEER 4,545 -
(Reversal of)/Provision for ECL B oRWFIEEMEEER
allowance on trade receivables, net Bt (BE) /sHRRE (82) 309
Provision for inventories FEEE 200 -
23,222 24,224
Changes in working capital: HEASEY:
Increase in inventories FEEM (816) (907)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & H i JE UL 2B L A0 (13,635) (18,742)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I H e IR AN 4,242 6,698
Cash generated from operations RERBRE 13,013 11,273
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15 Bank deposits and cash (Continued) 15 |ITFRREAES @
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MEEBMEXEEENHIER
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFMAEERE E@JFKE ]
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BENEE (BFERE &%Fi@@‘f&%@ °
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing MEEBHMELRERFE S REN
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or ARRR G 8B AR A S B AR
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EHRERERDBRREMAE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows VIREMENEE -
from financing activities.
Lease liabilities Bank loans Total
HESE RITER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TET
At 1 April 2018 R-ZE-N\ENE—H - 6,582 6,582
Changes from financing cash MERS RS
flows:
Repayment of bank loans BRRITER - (208) (208)
Interest paid BERFE - (172) (172)
Total changes from financing RERSREL
cash flows o - @8O (380)
Other change: Hith 28 :
Interest on bank loans RITEHH S
(note 6(a)) (Hi:Z 6(a) - 172 172
Total other change Hup g epas - e 172
At 31 March 2019 as originally RZE—NF=H
presented =+—H
(BREE5) - 6,374 6,374
Impact on initial application of BRERABIE
HKFRS 16 (note 2.3) WEERE 1652
T8 (Wit23) 2,308 - 2,308
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 R-Z—hFMNAE—A
OECETE- 533 2,308 6,374 8,682
Changes from financing cash RERESHREE
flows:
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (2,809) - (2,809)
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER - (2,735) (2,735)
Interest paid BT (179) (169) (348)
Total changes from financing MEReRELEESE
cash flows e 208y (2904)  (5:892)
Other changes: Hitt 2 g
Interest on bank loans RITEHM B
(note 6(a)) (K7t 6(@) - 169 169
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENRNS
(note 6(3)) (H176(8)) 179 - 179
Additions from entering into new ISR REINRIR
lease 6,887 - 6,887
Totelotherchenges . L 7088 ... 189 .. 7,235
At 31 March 2020 R=2Z= §$ A
= 6,386 3,639 10,025
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16 Trade and other payables

=)
YN

16 BEZ REMEM IR

2020 2019
i i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHIT
Trade payables (note 16(a)) B S e A (Hi2 16() 3,653 7,571
Contract liabilities (note 16(b)) EHBRE N 160) 15,919 6,751
Other payables and accrued expenses £ i B~ 7038 & fE 5158 % 3,185 4,649
22,757 18,971
(a) Ageing analysis (@) BRER DT
The Group was granted by its suppliers with credit AEBEEHERL TN TI0E60
periods ranging from 30-60 days. As of the end of the HREEH REmEHR BREE
reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables, SAMMNE ZENRIERRK S THA
based on the invoice date, is as follows: N
2020 2019
—EB-FR —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Less than 30 days 30 H 2,269 5,752
31 to 60 days 31E60H 15 103
61 to 90 days 61 E90H 1,361 1,289
Over 91 days but within one year HBINHER—FA 8 427
3,653 7,571
(b) Movement in contract liabilities (b) EXNEEBENEE

When the Group receives a trade deposit before the
goods deliver, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
exceeds the amount of the deposit. The amount of
deposit is negotiated on a case by case basis with
customers.

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year.

Revenue amounting to HK$6,751,000 (2019:
HK$1,213,000) recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020 relates to contract liabilities outstanding at
the beginning of the reporting date.
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17 Bank loans 17 RITER
At 31 March 2020, the bank loans were repayable as RZEZZTEF=A=+—H RITERK
follows: IR TN X Fil(EiE -
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FHET
Portion of mortgage loan from bank AR —FRNEENRITRE
repayable within 1 year L m 202
Portion of mortgage loan from bank AR —FREBNIRITIZSG
due for repayment after 1 year which BEREHy  REREX
contains a repayable on demand EE KR
clause
— after 1 year but within 2 years — —FREMFHN 176 208
- after 2 years but within 5 years — MERERFHN 539 655
- after 5 years — A& 2,753 5,309
3468 ... 6,172
Total bank loans IRITE KA 3,639 6,374
At 31 March 2020, the bank loans are secured by RZEZZEF=A=+—H0 RITERK
mortgages over buildings with an aggregate carrying LABR T 4818 6,422,000 8 7 (= — L4
value of HK$6,422,000 (2019: aggregate carrying WEMEREFHRRE 18 7% 16,899,000
value of investment property and building amounting to BIT) B FIRBER IR -
HK$16,899,000).
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SEABI - 195

18 HEEE
T&ITAEEREEENSRTA NI

18 Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual

maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities: M
2020
—E-FF
HK$°000
FHT
Total minimum lease payments: =IEEEN AR
Due within one year R—FREIH 3,603
Due in the second to fifth years RE-—E2FERFEH 2,460
Due after the fifth years RERFEDNE 506
6,569
Future finance charges on lease liabilites & & EH A K gL E & A (183)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 6,386
Present value of minimum lease =ERERFRRE
payments:
Due within one year R—FAEIH 3,471
Due in the second to fifth years RNE-—2FERFEH 2,412
Due after the fifth years RERFERNE 503
6,386
Less: Portion due within one year W EFARBEEETR
included under current liabilities —F AR EE (3,471)
Portion due after one year included FFAFERBBEE TR —FER 8D
under non-current liabilities 2,915

The Group initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17. Comparative information as at 31 March 2019
has not been restated. Details for transitions to HKFRS 16
are set out in note 2.3.

As at 31 March 2020, no lease liabilities are effectively
secured by the related underlying assets as the rights to the
leased asset would be reverted to the lessor in the event of
default by repayment by the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cash
outflows for the leases are HK$3,249,000.
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18 Lease liabilities (Continued) 18 HEEE @
Details of the lease activities HETEFE
As at 31 March 2020, the Group has entered into leases for RZEZZEF=A=+—H A5EE
offices and retail shops. FAIUMAERTEEHEAE -
Range of
Types of right-of-use  Financial statements items of Number of remaining
assets right-of-use assets included in leases lease term Particulars
ERAEEERR AAEREEENMKERER HEHE HTHREE 6
Office Buildings in “property, plant and 3 14t02years o No option to renew the lease
equipment” after the end of the contract
/N % BERXGEIETEF 1422%F BRERE T RERE
Retail shops Buildings in “property, plant and 4 2 to 3 years o No option to renew the lease
equipment after the end of the contract
TEEH (% BERZEIETEF 2E3F BRERE T RERE

o Three of the contracts contain
turnover rent, which will be paid if
the monthly gross sales turnover
exceeds the monthly basic rent
of each calender month
RECHNRE=HBREEER
He EBRREELETEH
BEEEANGAERES

& F AT A
19 Income tax in the consolidated 19 ZREMBRRKROFAER
statement of financial position
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (@) HZayBtRRMEIETIRE -
financial position represents:
2020 2019
—E-FF —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHTT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax & R & & FI| 1551 B 5
for the year 4,454 4,855
Provisional Profits Tax paid A E RS (4,522) (4,220)
(68) 635
Representing: R&k:
Current tax recoverable AT U Bl B EA R 18 (1,424) (228)
Current tax payable JE 1~ B EA R 18 1,356 863
(68) 635
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G . z/ )
YN 12 YN

19 Income tax in the consolidated 19 ZREMBRREKRWAABH @

statement of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised:

The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

(b) ERBELEHIREE,BE

FAHEBBRRARAC ERE
EHIE(BE) BEHS RESHM

position and the movements during the year are as ™
follows:
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
related
depreciation
rERBEH
HEE
HK$’000
FHETT
Deferred tax arising from: EEBERR -
At 1 April 2018 RZFE—-NFEOH—H 747
Charged to profit or loss RIEz= R (4)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZT—NF=ZRA=+—AK
—ZE-hFWA—H 743
Credited to profit or loss RIEmETA (147)
At 31 March 2020 RZZFEZZF=H=+—H 596
2020 2019
—g-®E TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT
Representing: R*&:
Deferred tax assets BRLERBEE (30) (28)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIAEE 626 771
596 743

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 2.15, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
HK$2,182,000 (2019: HK$446,000) as it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire
under current tax legislation.
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20 Capital and reserves 20 EXKf#fE
201 Movements in components of equity 201 EEIDEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBGZEERS BB R
balances of each component of the Group’s REARNHREINGEERERE -
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated KAREREEBIRETNEF R
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes MEBFBHNTX:

in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:

Share Share Merger  Retained
capital  Premium reserve profits Total
kx  ROEE SHEE REEN @zt
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
M THEL FEL FEL TET THEL

Balance at 1 April 2018 R-E-NFMA—H
ifeg - - 155 74 1,129

Changes in equity for year: FRERE2E

Loss and total comprehensive  F RES1E & 2 Bz

income for the year BE - - - (670) (670)
Issue of shares #17kd 20.2/(i) 2,500 85,000 - - 87,500
Capitalisation of shares BRI RR 20.2i) 7,500 (7,500) - - -
Transaction costs attributable 8 47/% {7 FE{E X SRk A&

to issue of shares - (10,509) - - (10,509)

Balance at 31 March 2019 R=ZE-NE=R
and 1 April 2019 =t-8k
—E-NEMA-A
fae 10,000 66,991 155 304 77,450

Changes in equity for year: FREREE

Loss and total comprehensive  FRES1E & 2 B
income for the year @ - - - (64) (64)

Balance at 31 March 2020 RZ=-ZE=-ZF=A
=t+-HMEe 10,000 66,991 155 240 77,386

The balances represent amounts less than $1,000. * ZEREHSBETE1,0007T ©
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20 Capital and reserves (Continued)

20 EXKfREE @

20.2 Share capital 202 B A<
Number of
shares Amount
BHEE &5
HK$
BT
Authorised ordinary shares of SREECBITHERE
HK$0.01 each: ZER
At 1 April 2018 RZE-—N\FNA—H 38,000,000 380,000
Increase in authorised share capital 3% & BN A0 (4752 ()
(note (1)) 9,962,000,000 99,620,000
At 31 March 2019, 1 April2019and WR-ZE—hLF=A=1+—H
31 March 2020 —FE-NFOA—BR
—E2-FHF=HF=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
At 1 April 2018 RZE—NFMNA—H 20,000 200
Capitalisation issue on 31 May 2018 WM-ZE—N\FRA=+—H
(note (ii)) BARAEET (a2 () 749,980,000 7,499,800
Issuance of shares on 31 May 2018 R-_ZE—/\FHRA=+—H
(note (i) BT (K7L (i) 250,000,000 2,500,000
At 31 March 2019, 1 April2019and WR-_Z—hF=A=+—H -
31 March 2020 —E-NFOA—BR
—ET-ZF=A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TEREEAEBREBRTRESTIRN
dividends as declared from time to time and are BRE - TEERAATRE FRE

BEROK - -EARABTNEE
TH A ERREBRFMA

entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.
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20 Capital and reserves (Continued)

20.2 Share capital (Continued)

20.3

Notes:

(i

(i)

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders passed
on 11 May 2018, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from 38,000,000 shares to 10,000,000,000
shares by creation of additional 9,962,000,000 shares, ranking
pari passu with the shares in all respects with shares in issue as
at the date of passing of the written resolution.

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders passed
on 11 May 2018, subject to the share premium account of the
Company being credited as a result of the Listing, the directors
were authorised to allot and issue a total of 749,980,000
shares to the holders of shares on the register of members
of the Company as of 11 May 2018 in proportion to their
respective shareholdings, credited as fully paid at par by way
of capitalisation of the sum of HK$7,499,800 standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company, and the
shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to this resolution
shall rank pari passu in all respects with the shares in issue
(the “Capitalisation issue”). Such Capitalisation issue has been
completed on 31 May 2018.

On 31 May 2018, the shares of the Company were listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In
connection with the Listing, the Company issued 250,000,000
shares at a price of HK$0.35 each for gross proceeds of
HK$87,500,000.

Land and buildings revaluation reserve
In previous year, a property with carrying amount of
HK$6,558,000 which was included in buildings held for

own

use was transferred to investment property as the

property was leased out. The difference between its
fair value and carrying amount at the date of transfer
of HK$1,242,000 was credited to land and buildings
revaluation reserve.

The
year

investment property was disposed during the
ended 31 March 2020. The land and buildings

revaluation reserve was therefore transferred to
retained profits on the date of disposal.

BIFHI) - 15

20 EXKfREE @

20.2

20.3

IR 2 (%)

Wit :

0] BERER-_FT—-NFRA+—HBA
BREERBE ARBEERASE
i@ 3 3% 9,962,000,000 % 8 4h B% 5 #
38,000,000 i1 Hil Z 10,000,000,000 f% °
BANBRMRBRAEMABEAPRDH
TR ENB A EZH RS -

REBRER-_Z—N\FRA+—ARB
MEBERER  FARAKNRMN GBI
A EmmESE R % - %%%P%%K
A RIRR 19 54 B IR # BR 58 7,499,800 75 JT
FERN  REERARY AR E
B ] 3174 $£ 749,980,000 R h FEE
—E-NFRAT-BAIEARFBRE
EMEBRDITEA  LOIRESERE
BEREME - MARERRZER G
&%ﬁ%%%%#ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁ
D ZAREMA ([EARET] -
§$m%ﬁam7$fﬂ¢£ﬂ:+f
A7 °

(i

RZZ—/\FRA=+—H8 £2aK
DREEBHAER AR ARGEM £ -
HEMME  ARRIZRFRO03EITH
{E %3417 250,000,000 B i 17+ FriSaIE
#8%8 /587,500,000 78 7T °

(i)

T RIEFEMLREE

NEF - —IAKRMAEG6,558,000/8
TWFABIEERETNMEER
EREVEEAYWERL - 082
FEHNATEHREFEABEZEAS
1,242,000 70 EABRZE T R 1E
FEFHERE -

ERREMEERBE_T_ZTF
=A=+— EJJ:EE&’% o A B
THEEFERRBEERLERH
BREREAN -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (b = 7 #5855 - 15 ZI7T)
20 Capital and reserves (Continued) 20 EXRRHE @
204 Merger reserve 204 SOHEE

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount EHHENAREBEKRERR AR
of the excess of the nominal value of shares of Amuse IR EER L AR E DR G|
International Investment Ltd. over the nominal value of BENEHEEZE MAREKRIEESR
shares of the Company exchanged, and the excess AR EEBLAREEERE
of the nominal value of shares of Amuse International BERRAAE - TEHHKEERERAA
Investment Ltd. over the nominal values of shares I AEBRAA - D4 Toys Co.,
of Bestone Creative Development Limited, Sentinel Limited 2 H —It B AR AGHERE
International Co. Limited, Lai Ga Toys Co. Limited, D4 H—BHEIRBRHEBENERE -

Toys Co., Limited and Moon One Toys Co., Limited
exchanged as part of the Reorganisation.

205 Dividends 205 B2
The directors do not recommend the payment of a EFVITEBRNBZ_Z_F
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2020 and FZZE-NF=ZRAR=+—HLLFE
2019. RIRZ B ©
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20 Capital and reserves (Continued) 20

20.6 Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders, by pricing services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Group.

During the year, the Group’s strategy in monitoring its
capital structure, which was unchanged from 2019,
was to maintain a sufficient cash level to meet its
liquidity requirements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

21 Financial risk management and fair 21
value measurement

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bank deposits and cash, trade and
other payables and bank loans. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how the Group mitigates risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

=)
YN

BEARRGHE @

206 EXREE
AEEERERNEE BIZARR
AEBBELLHEH  REEARK
KPR R B IR A B A
WERE  BEARELRELR -

AEEBEBRLRERAEHNLREELE
REER  DEFERROBEEHR (7]
FERBREBEKTER BREER
R 50 BT 6 R 1B 25 % AR B B S
I A FE 52 8 7R 5 T A 48 B iR B
FBERERE -

REA AEREEREARARBOHR
BME-—T-hFREKTE g
MR KFURNRBDESHE -

RAF R EAEAHE B EX T
SN DN B AR TE FTAR IR ©

BHEBREERAFEFE

AEBENEFEMBIABREES KHEAM
EWHIE - RITFARLBES -EHRE
RN RBERRITENR - ZFMBITA
AHBEREREMERE BZFUHITA
A 8 9 [ B e S S 1) 4 4] R0 K R B ) B
RER T -EEEEERERERZTRE
BUNEREEBREREZREE -
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e TR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

21 Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (Continued)

21.1 Categories of financial assets and

21 BIEREERAFETE @

21 SREEREEER

liabilities
2020 2019
—_ ? —_ qE - = _jLEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Financial assets MEEE
Financial assets at amortised cost WEEK AT RS REE
Trade and other receivables* B 5 K H b W GRIE 13,394 21,913
Bank deposits and cash BT FEH MRS 115,102 110,970
128,496 132,883
Financial liabilities tHeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR B AR ARV S R B &
Trade and other payables* B 5 & A b e 518 6,838 12,220
Bank loans SRITER 3,639 6,374
Lease liabilities HE&AE 6,386 -
16,863 18,594
Prepayment is excluded * R B RIE
Contract liabilities are excluded > WERENEE
21.2 Credit risk 22 EERK
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will EERBRESFIEREAPOET
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a BRAEBAXMBBENRR -
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is AEENEERBREIBREESE

primarily attributable to trade receivables. The Group’s WRIE - AEEIRBRITEER
2 ER BRAAEFH
TARRIIRTT R & RUMERE

=& A
I:l/\

exposure to credit risk arising from bank deposits and ® B EE R
cash is limited because the counterparties are banks BRESEE
and financial institutions with high credit rating for HUAEERABE

which the Group considers to have low credit risk.
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21 Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (Continued)

21.2 Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
At the end of the reporting period, 53% (2019: 13%)
and 56% (2019: 34%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables are due within O to 60 days from the
date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI Pt

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

=)
YN

21 BIEREERAFETE @

212 EE R b (&)

H 5 W FIR
AEBZEERRFEXESREFLHE
PN BTS2 MIEZX B EEM
ETESIBERATZE - AL EX
ST EERRIERARNEEHHHE
AIEPEEZEXNRR - R#REH
KR BHEBGIBBEFLI% (ZF
—NF 1 183%) N 56% (ZZE—N4F :
34%) DRI EAREEFEARFE LR
AREF -

B AEERKBREETEESSR
MEPETENEER G - ZET
HERHHEFPBAEIBMNRNE
ERBARTRNKEESD - LERBE
AREEPREFPRERBEL
RERFEWEFR - BEHRWKIAZE
RBEZAHEFTOEE0R AT -
—RME AEEFEREF R
HHm -

AEERENR2HEHEEEEN
TR ERBREEEAEESREK
RENEBEREE R ARENB
EEEBRERIEBTTRARTR
DEHHNEBERERAFTEEREZEER ¥
It AN £ 3 S E AR R P A A —
[ o E 8 B A 8 1 81 0 1 5 18
B
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Trade receivables (Continued)

21 Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (Continued)

21.2 Credit risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& IRk aE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 7

t’/—El'y ’ I’j;

21 BIEREER AFETE @

2.2 FER B (&)
B 5 MW FIA (8)
TR AEMR - -_TFR =
T-NEZA=t+—-BNEEAR
&T%EW,EE%ETEEWQ

K

Gross
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-2F=f Expected carrying Individually Loss Total
=+-—-H loss rate amount  impaired allowance allowance
BHEEXE KRELE EHHE BREE BRE
%  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000
% TET TET TERT TER
Current (not past due) AN (ma ) 0% 5,433 - - -
1-30 days past due #HEI1E30H 0% 1,833 - - -
31-60 days past due #HIZ1E60H 0% 5 - - -
61-90 days past due #HEI61 Z90 H 0% 93 - - -
More than 90 days past due ~ #H#AE3890 H 6.0% 240 (183) 3) (186)
7,604 (183) (3) (186)

Gross
As at 31 March 2019 RZZE-NE=A Expected carrying  Individually Loss Total
=+—H loss rate amount impaired  allowance  allowance
BHEEEX KRELE BERHRE BERE B
%  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$'000
% TET TET TET FET
Current (not past due) ENER (fma HA) 0% 7,103 - - -
1-30 days past due #H1ZE30H 0% 1,562 - - -
31-60 days past due #HIZ1E60H 0% 7083 - - -
61-90 days past due #HI61£90H 0% 3,360 - - -
More than 90 days past due A HiBBI0H 6.0% 6,811 - (407) (407)
19,539 - (407) (407)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 3 years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the

expected lives of the receivables.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

21 BIEREERAFETE @

21 Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (Continued)

21.2

213

Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables and deposits and bank balances and cash.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group would make periodic collective and
individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records and past experience as well as
current information. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In these regards, the credit
risk of other receivables and deposits are considered
to be low. Besides, the management is of opinion that
there is no significant increase in credit risk on these
other receivables and deposits since initial recognition
as the risk of default is low and, thus, the ECL for
other receivables and deposits are minimal under the
12-month ECL method.

The credit risk for bank balances and short-term bank
deposits is considered negligible as the counterparties
are reputable banks.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

21.2

213

=)
YN

FE R @

H 1% 8 SH A AN 51 BR Y &2 Bt
BE
HMRBHEKAIENEREER
LA UK TR S 3% & AR 1T A4S B4
ke ABEERREREREK:
AEEEEBERBEBELNCE
RAEERIARBBEENHEME
YR I8 B 3 1O R YR (B 1 AE 1T E B
S RERIFHE - AKBE IR E M
EEREF UBRRIRBRETHK
AR ER Rt m s EmERK
REMZEENERERBRBERSIE -
S - B IR B RS U T E A R WK
ARZRENEERR QML HERIA
T RFEZELE N FASRORARIKE -
Btk - B A R R IR R IR & B TE H]
EEBERBEI2EAEHEESRE
AT EBIRT RN -

RITRBRENPTERNEERE
BEEAMTRE AAHFEFA
BEBEIRT -

REBE SRR
AEENBRASTHERERDES
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(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15 ZI7T)
21 Financial risk management and fair 21 BIEKREER ATEHE @
value measurement (Continued)
21.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) A3 REBESER (F)
The Group’s liquidity position and compliance with loan AEENRBDESKARERRZH
covenants are monitored closely by the management BTBERBAEEERERIER -
of the Group. The following table details the Group’s TRFANRNEBRBERARTBEE
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at the end BEHEXHEEER - BAYKRIIR
of the reporting period. The table has been drawn up BAREETREERNTOEER
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial HETNIHaERMBRASRE
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the wmEl - BV KRBENERBEESR
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both EXE o

interest and principal cash flows.

Contractual undiscounted cash flow
EHNAMRRERE
More than More than
Within  one year two years

oneyear butless but Carrying
oron than lessthan More than amount at
demand twoyears five years five years Total Discount 31 March
R=R

R-FR —-F0LE WEUL =t-H

HREX BREMREBEFNA BENUL At R WEEE
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tén TEx TEx TEx TER TER TEX

2020 —EC°EF
Bank loans subject to WEzERERR

repayment on demand HEBTER

clauses: scheduled SEEN

repayments 243 243 730 3550 4766 (1,127) 3639
Trade payables BIENFE 3,653 - - - 3,653 - 3,653
Other payables and acorued ~ EfERFIER

expenses [EFER 3,185 - - - 3,185 - 3,185

7,081 243 730 3,550 11,604 (1,127) 10,477
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21 BIEREERAFETE @

21

Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (Continued)
21.3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

23 RBEEER (@)

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

ANAERRERE
More than  More than
oneyear two years
Within but but Carrying
oneyearor lessthan lessthan More than amount at
ondemand twoyears fiveyears five years Total  Discount 31 March
R=H
R—FR —EN5E WENUL =t+—H
RRER ERFAREREARN BENUL @it ¥R NEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKE'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
AT TEx FEx TEx  TExR TET TEx
2019 —B-nF
Bank loans subject to WEzEXEER
repayment on demand ?Jﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ :
clauses: scheduled HIEE
repayments 363 363 1,089 6,720 8,635 (2,161) 6,374
Trade payables BIENFE 7,571 - - - 7,571 - 7571
Other payables and accrued ~ EfERFER
expenses [E:E A 4,649 - - - 4,649 - 4,649
12,583 363 1,089 6,720 20,755 2,161) 18,594
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21 Financial risk management and fair 21 BIRREER ATFEFTE @

value measurement (Continued)

214 Interest rate risk

/ \
Zl )
P ZIN/

214 RRE &

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
loans. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group
monitors the level of its variable rate borrowings and
manages the contractual terms of the interest-bearing
financial liabilities. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out below.

FEEBaHIAENDTEIR
KR &8 KA IHH XS K
R AKENOMNXEREE
BRRIBITER - FEEESAEE
ASRERENERER - NEEE
RHEFERBEKRKEREEFETH
BENANGR - NEEREEE
ROMEBEAEN T -

A

B

Interest rate profile FIEBE
The Group KEE
2020 2019
—ECER —T-NF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BRFIE S8 EBRAE Ea
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTAER FET
Variable rate borrowings: ZEEE :
Bank loans RITER 3,639 2.70% 6,374
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit after taxation
and retained profits by approximately HK$15,000
(2019: HK$27,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not be affected in response to a general
increase/decrease in interest rates.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

21 BIEREERAFETE @

21 Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (Continued)

21.4 R =3 b (&)

214 Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised
impact on the Group’s interest expense that would

BURE AT ()
R = BB 5 BRI B AL 8%
o IE%E EZE'ZSEEEEWIEi

arise assuming that the change in interest rates had m%ﬂﬂfﬂ Zﬁﬁﬁfiﬁftﬂ:
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the secured bank loans which exposes
the Group’s to cash flow interest rate risk at that date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2019.

E’]ﬂ g Eﬁﬁimifﬂz%g ° EFE
i =T NF 2 HREEETT -

215 Currency risk 215 Bk
AARREMBARNNEEE R
EEE BT ([HET]) -

The Company’s and its subsidiary functional currency
and presentation currency are Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”).

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily AEBEEH  BEERBREENREE
through sales and purchases which give rise to BEMES 2 EWFRIAE - B HRIAE
receivables, payables and cash balances that are KR8 Z5EEB HIRINE (B
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency RGP EH2NEEEUINCE
other than the functional currency of the operations to B)itE-E4XA Fﬁﬂ n EREE
which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise BET(ExT] Bz Rzl

to this risk are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), BHE(THE] &)\E”ﬁg (TARE]D -
Euros (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”) and Renminbi

(“RMB”).

BT B SR T HNA $’§lﬁﬁg
E/ B TERTG A EAE

As the HK$ is pegged to the USD, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the USD/HK$
exchange rate.
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21 Financial risk management and fair 21 BIRREER ATFEFTE @
value measurement (Continued)
215 Currency risk (Continued) 215 & ¥ E b (@)
Exposure to currency risk A2 B R R
The following table details the Group’s exposure at TRFAVNAEBRREHRUAEH
the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising BRI EETEZ
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a ERREEXBEMEELEZEER
currency other than the functional currency of entity o BRI AE @B NIRFE
to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the HEBHZHHERRE BB N
amounts of the exposure are shown in HK$, translated TE2%5| 2 o

using spot rate at the year end date.

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ARONERR (E7LI)
2020 2019
SBL =
usd EUR JPY RMB usD EUR JY RVB
£ ®% AE  AB® %t BT BE ARK

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Trade and other receivables BARE

R 11,480 % 2 443 2989 3 874 28
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRLZEY 27,132 11 8,575 6,280 14,549 115 8,382 6,65
Trade and other payables BARE
EftzE (4,754) - (502) - o - 1683) 719)
Net exposure arising from BEREER
recognised assets and BEMELL
libiities BlR%E 34,458 147 8,206 6,723 31,651 182 8573 6,225
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21 Financial risk management and fair 21 BIRAKREER ATEHE @
value measurement (Continued)
215 Currency risk (Continued) 215 & ¥ E b (@)
Sensitivity analysis BRE DI
The following table indicates the instantaneous change TRINTAEBRBERRELESE
in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and KE ZERMPRZHEHRESHIE
other components of consolidated equity that would AREE R AEEBR BB RF (RREB
arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group &) fﬂﬁﬁﬂ,ﬁ G D IR 2 Al
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting REE (BREMBHMERTZEEHE
period had changed at that date, assuming all other EHFLE) oMW E - DEREB
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it TTHEETHBERITGEREETL
is assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$ HEB s AREEZEHMXIE
and the USD would be materially unaffected by any K2 -

changes in movement in value of the USD against
other currencies.

The Group K&
2020 2019
- St 3.3 “Z-NF

Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on

(decrease) in profit after (decrease) in profit after

foreign tax tax and foreign tax tax and

exchange retained exchange retained

rates profits rates profits

HERB% HEBR

Exts/  RIRRE BExtA/ RFIRRE

(F&k)  BANEE (Tk)  BA0TE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FET

EUR BT 5% 6 10% 14
(5)% (6) (10)% (14)

JPY H 5% 347 10% 854
(5)% (347) (10)% (854)

RMB ARE 5% 281 10% 630
(5)% (281) (10)% (630)

—s-TesR EREErRsrAd 141




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TR MR
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21 Financial risk management and fair 21 BIEKREER ATEHE @
value measurement (Continued)
215 Currency risk (Continued) 215 & ¥ E b (@)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRRE 2T (48)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table EREJNZOMBERBE T RS
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects SERBUBEBEEBHE KR
on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax and equity BafkiEa s IRTE BB
measured in the respective functional currencies, BREPREERBE BEBTER

translated to the HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change REDMNIBRREXRSEHZ AR
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re- E%ﬁ AEASEMBESAEER
measure those financial instruments held by the Group #ﬁiﬁﬁﬂ€7¥<x9|\[ﬂ 2 ST A -
which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the BN E T - NF2EREE
end of the reporting period. The analysis is performed HETT o

on the same basis for 2019.

21,6 Fair value measurement 216 AFEFE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial RZEZZEFRZZTE-—NLF=AHA
instruments carried at amounts were not materially =+—H ArEELHITANER
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and BEHAEQNFETEEAEE -

2019.
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e TR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (b 5= & #5855 + 15

22 Commitments 22 &I

22.1 Lease commitments

The Group as lessee

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for
short-term leases (2019: total future minimum lease
payments payable by the Group under non-cancellable
operating leases) are as follows:

221 FHEAE

AEEERFAHEA

Rips B R EREM AR (=
Z-NFAKERETTHM
BREREMELROARSERE
fIRaeEE) T

2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHEIT

Within 1 year —FR - 2,558
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA - 1,343
- 3,901

The Group is the lessee in respect of properties
held under leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group
has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019
to recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases
(see note 2.3). From 1 April 2019 onwards, future
lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the
details regarding the Group’s future lease payments
are disclosed in note 18.

AEEARBEHENMFTYWENER
AN ZEHELIIREEESHE
BIE17THR o EAKERE X5 HE
ERALEITBWEN S RPNES
MRS ERIF 1698 - RIB UL 5%
AEEEAE-_ZT—NAEA—HK
ek BHLEREBREENR
E(RME23) AT —NLFWA
—ARMB ARRAENTTBRES
YRR ERERATERE BH
REBHRKRBENZK  EFBER
MizE 18R EE o
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e R MR
(Expressed in Hong Kong doliars unless otherwise indicated) (5 55 4 #5959/ )
22 Commitments (Continued) 22 EIE @)
22.2 Capital commitments 220 BEAREE
2020 2019
—ECEF —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Contracted but not provided for capital 2 i LVERBEEHEE R
injection to a joint venture AEE 3,000 -
This represents capital commitment for capital EREMEBEBREEERARCHE
contribution for 30% equity interest on the paid-up BN HE30% MR EH) & A R IE
capital of Grand Amuse Development Limited, a private ZARAE—RBRE-_Z_F ¢ =A
company incorporated in Hong Kong, under the joint ZTHHREINEBE AR HERAES
venture agreement signed on 30 March 2020. Further A FLART - E 57%? 158
details are set out in the Company’s announcement RARNRBHEBHAE-_ZT_ZETF=AH
dated on 30 March 2020. =tTHZRE -
23 Material related party transaction 23 BEFNEARS
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (@ TEEBEAEBHFM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the REBEEERABNETM(2IEH
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s HSFERE N FARAREENET)
directors as disclosed in note 8, is as follows: HHT :
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Short-term employee benefits REREBRET 4,897 4,656
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 72 70
4,969 4,726
(b) Balance with related party (b) BEEAE S W&
2020 2019
—EB-EF —NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Amount due to director (Note j) JE 88 = FRIE (B ati) 746 755
Note: HiaF -
() The balance will be repayable on demand. () HEBRBRERER-
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e TR R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B = & #5855 - 15

24 Company-level statement of financial 24 ‘7)1 B AR R &
position
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B FET FETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARIRIKE 933 545
Current assets REBEE
Deposit and other receivables o K H b e E e 146 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UG B B A B FRIE 71,128 91,479
Cash and cash equivalents HeMBEEEEY 10,928 2,265
82,202 93,744
Current liabilities RBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASH BT B A R FRIE 5,624 16,823
Other payables and accrued E T RIEREA X
L BXONSeS 12 16
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 5749 16839
Netcurrentassets = *BEEFE 76453 76,905
Net assets EEFE 77,386 77,450
Capital and reserves BERK#E
Share capital [ 20.2 10,000 10,000
Share premium & mE 20.1 66,991 66,991
Merger reserve a ot 20.1 155 155
Retained profits RE AT 20.1 240 304
Total equity RS 77,386 77,450
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors EEgR T _FTF AT =-HHLAE
on 23 June 2020. A T B o
LI Wai Keung TO Hoi Pan
Z{EW R
Director Director
EE EBE
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e TR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (b = 7 75

25

26

Immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party

At 31 March 2020, the directors consider the Company’s
immediate parent and ultimate controlling party to be Infinite
Force Holdings Limited, a limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and Mr. Li Wai Keung respectively.

Events after the reporting date

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“the
COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented over the world, which has affected the
business and economic activities of the Group to certain
extent. Pending on the development of the COVID-19
outbreak subsequent to the date of these financial
statements, further changes in economic conditions for
the Group arising thereof may have impact on the financial
results of the Group. The overall financial effect of the
above cannot be reliably estimated as of the date of these
consolidated financial statements. The Group will pay close
attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak and
continue to evaluate its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group.
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25

26

HEESBQAFARRRERA

MN_ZT-_ZTFEF=-ZA=+—RH BERE
KRR EET AR RRLZERE DR
/A Infinite Force Holdings Limited (7 25 &
MBARHEESEMRIHMBERAR) REE
B o

WREHREER

COI9BMESHEN — T - T FE V)18 3%
(2019 B mEREE]) LAR - — K3
PirtE e ST BEER 2 IRGEBERNE
M BEE—TCREEFEAEENER
RAOETEE) - 2 S HmE B % - B8
E2019EMASHEBNERE  KNEE
B A B AR UL B L E A 3 — 25 S B AT R
HAEEVBEEERVE -BEZE
AT REABE F TR
BEEELA G AEE R YE
SEC019E MBS HEBRER  WHEE
FHEEEAEETERAREEEED

S/ 488
= °




PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
S IES

Percentage
interest of Usage as at
Property the Group  Floor Area 31 March 2020
rEH R=-B-ZHF
HEERZ =A=+-—H
L/ Bok BHEE ZAR
(sa.ft)
(CFAR)
1 Flat C on 59th Floor of Tower2 & 100% 744 Director’s quarter
The Dynasty FREE EEREE
No. 18 Yeung Uk Road HEBE 185}
Tsuen Wan, New Territories il
Hong Kong 2ESIECE
2 Workshop No. 1 on 14/F &5 100% 1,759  Warehouse
Wang Lung Industrial Building AR BE
No. 11 Lung Tak Street BEEM 1198
Tsuen Wan, New Territories RREIEKNE

Hong Kong

141815 B
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BTEEEE

AEERNEBEREMBREENEENULEE
RAEE (BB AFREBRMBERRILAR
AEPA-ZE-NFRA+/\BNBERER)

A Summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years extracted from the audited
financial statements in this annual report and the prospectus of

the Company dated 18 May 2018, is as follows: BEmT
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EZBf —T-NEF —T-N\F —T—+tF Z—IT—XF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTET FEL TET FTET
Revenue g 3% 206,965 182,583 132,025 136,888 123,154
Cost of sales HERA (164,783) (137,423) (95,733) (96,766) (90,942)
Gross profit E 42,182 45,160 36,292 40,122 32212
Operating expenses memt (30,858) (24,661) (15,522) (24,383) (10,115)
Profit before tax BB ADRF 11,324 20,499 20,770 15,739 22,097
Income tax expenses Frisfi (3,874) (5,378) (3,860) (4,467) (3,838)
Profit for the year FRBR 7,450 15,121 16,910 11,272 18,259
Earnings per share SREF
Basic and diluted (in cents) BEARREE (BMLED) 0.75 1.58 2.25 1.50 2.43
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE 27,627 26,857 25,408 22,968 18,989
Current assets MEEE 177,331 162,892 66,885 64,679 75,304
Current liabilities TEEE 31,223 26,208 20,891 27,272 40,880
Total assets less current BEERRBER
liabilities 173,735 163,541 71,402 60,375 53,413
Non-current liabilities ERBERE 3,541 771 770 653 963
Net assets EEFE 170,194 162,770 70,632 59,722 52,450
Capital and reserves BEERR#E
Share capital e 10,000 10,000 - - 129
Reserves f#E 160,194 152,770 70,632 59,722 52,321
Total equity s 170,194 162,770 70,632 59,722 52,450
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